
An EXTRAORDINARY meeting of HUNTINGDONSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
will be held in the CIVIC SUITE, PATHFINDER HOUSE, ST MARY'S STREET, 
HUNTINGDON PE29 3TN on MONDAY, 26 MARCH 2018 at 7:00 PM and you 
are requested to attend for the transaction of the following business:- 
 
 

A G E N D A 
  Time 

Allocation 
   
 APOLOGIES 2 Minutes. 
   
 
1. MINUTES  (Pages 5 - 20) 
 

 

 To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting held on 21st 
February 2018. 
 

 

2. MEMBERS INTERESTS'   
 

 

 To receive from Members declarations as to disclosable pecuniary, 
non-disclosable pecuniary or non-pecuniary interests in relation to any 
Agenda item. See Notes below. 
 

 

3. HOUGHTON AND WYTON NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 2018 TO 2036  
(Pages 21 - 108) 

 

10 Minutes. 

 Following the Referendum held on Thursday 1st March 2018 to 
consider a report seeking approval to make the Houghton and Wyton 
Neighbourhood Plan to enable it to become part of the statutory 
development plan for Huntingdonshire. 
 

 

4. HDC VENTURES - SHAREHOLDER BOARD  (Pages 109 - 116) 
 

5 Minutes. 

 To consider a report seeking the establishment of a Shareholder Board 
for HDC Ventures. 
 

 

5. OUTCOMES FROM COMMITTEES AND PANELS  (Pages 117 - 118) 
 

10 Minutes. 

 An opportunity for Members to raise any issues or ask questions 
arising from recent meetings of the Council’s Committees and Panels.  
 
A list of meetings held since the last Council meeting is attached for 
information and Members are requested to address their questions to 
Committee and Panel Chairmen.  
 

 

6. CAMBRIDGESHIRE AND PETERBOROUGH COMBINED 
AUTHORITY - UPDATE  (Pages 119 - 132) 

 

20 Minutes. 

 Councillor G J Bull, Executive Leader to present on the activities of the 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Combined Authority.  
  
Councillors R C Carter and T Hayward to provide an update on the 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Combined Authority Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee. 
 

 



Decision summaries for recent meetings of the Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough Combined Authority Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
and Board are attached to the Agenda for information. 
  
In accordance with the Protocol agreed at the February 2017 meeting, 
this item provides an opportunity for District Council Members to ask 
questions and comment on Cambridgeshire and Peterborough 
Combined Authority issues. 
  
If Members wish to raise questions or issues requiring a detailed 
response, it would be helpful if they can provide prior notice so that the 
necessary information can be obtained in advance of the meeting. 
  

(Notes:  Update  10 
Minutes 

Questions 10 
Minutes). 

 
  
 Dated this 16th day of March 2018 
     

 
 Head of Paid Service 

 
Notes 
 
1. Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 
 
 (1) Members are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary interests and unless you 

have obtained dispensation, cannot discuss or vote on the matter at the meeting and 
must also leave the room whilst the matter is being debated or voted on. 

 
 (2) A Member has a disclosable pecuniary interest if it - 
 
  (a) relates to you, or 
  (b) is an interest of - 
 
   (i) your spouse or civil partner; or 
   (ii) a person with whom you are living as husband and wife; or 
   (iii) a person with whom you are living as if you were civil partners 
 
  and you are aware that the other person has the interest. 
 
 (3) Disclosable pecuniary interests includes - 
 
  (a) any employment or profession carried out for profit or gain; 
  (b) any financial benefit received by the Member in respect of expenses incurred carrying 

out his or her duties as a Member (except from the Council); 
  (c) any current contracts with the Council; 
  (d) any beneficial interest in land/property within the Council's area; 
  (e) any licence for a month or longer to occupy land in the Council's area; 
  (f) any tenancy where the Council is landlord and the Member (or person in (2)(b) above) 

has a beneficial interest; or 
  (g) a beneficial interest (above the specified level) in the shares of any body which has a 

place of business or land in the Council's area. 
 
 Non-Statutory Disclosable Interests 
 



 (4) If a Member has a non-statutory disclosable interest then you are required to declare that 
interest, but may remain to discuss and vote providing you do not breach the overall 
Nolan principles. 

 
 (5) A Member has a non-statutory disclosable interest where - 
 

(a) a decision in relation to the business being considered might reasonably be regarded 
as affecting the well-being or financial standing of you or a member of your family or a 
person with whom you have a close association to a greater extent than it would affect 
the majority of the council tax payers, rate payers or inhabitants of the ward or 
electoral area for which you have been elected or otherwise of the authority's 
administrative area, or 

 (b) it relates to or is likely to affect a disclosable pecuniary interest, but in respect of a 
member of your family (other than specified in (2)(b) above) or a person with whom 
you have a close association, or 

 (c) it relates to or is likely to affect any body – 
 

   (i) exercising functions of a public nature; or 
   (ii) directed to charitable purposes; or 

   (iii) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or policy 
(including any political party or trade union) of which you are a Member or in a 
position of control or management. 

 
  and that interest is not a disclosable pecuniary interest. 
 
2. Filming, Photography and Recording at Council Meetings 
    
 The District Council supports the principles of openness and transparency in its decision 

making and permits filming, recording and the taking of photographs at its meetings that are 
open to the public.  It also welcomes the use of social networking and micro-blogging 
websites (such as Twitter and Facebook) to communicate with people about what is 
happening at meetings.  Arrangements for these activities should operate in accordance with 
guidelines agreed by the Council and available via the following link filming,photography-and-
recording-at-council-meetings.pdf or on request from the Democratic Services Team.  The 
Council understands that some members of the public attending its meetings may not wish to 
be filmed.  The Chairman of the meeting will facilitate this preference by ensuring that any 
such request not to be recorded is respected.  

 

 
Agenda and enclosures can be viewed on the District Council’s website – 

www.huntingdonshire.gov.uk (under Councils and Democracy). 
 

If you would like a translation of Agenda/Minutes/Reports or 
would like a large text version or an audio version please 

contact the Elections & Democratic Services Manager  
and we will try to accommodate your needs. 

 
 

http://www.huntingdonshire.gov.uk/SiteCollectionDocuments/HDCCMS/Documents/Democratic%20Services%20documents/filming,photography-and-recording-at-council-meetings.pdf
http://www.huntingdonshire.gov.uk/SiteCollectionDocuments/HDCCMS/Documents/Democratic%20Services%20documents/filming,photography-and-recording-at-council-meetings.pdf


 
 



HUNTINGDONSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
 
 MINUTES of the meeting of the COUNCIL held in Civic Suite, 

Pathfinder House, St Mary's Street, Huntingdon PE29 3TN on 
Wednesday, 21 February 2018. 

   
 PRESENT: Councillor R J West – Chairman. 
   
  Councillors J D Ablewhite, T D Alban, 

K M Baker, C E Bober, Mrs B E Boddington, 
D Brown, P L E Bucknell, G J Bull, S Cawley, 
Mrs S Conboy, J E Corley, S J Criswell, 
J W Davies, D B Dew, Mrs A Dickinson, 
Mrs L A Duffy, M Francis, R Fuller, 
I D Gardener, D A Giles, Mrs S A Giles, 
J A Gray, S Greenall, T Hayward, B Hyland, 
P Kadewere, Mrs R E Mathews, D J Mead, 
J P Morris, J M Palmer, P D Reeve, 
Mrs D C Reynolds, T D Sanderson, 
M F Shellens, L R Swain, Mrs J Tavener, 
Mrs S L Taylor, R G Tuplin, D M Tysoe, 
D R Underwood and J E White. 

   
 APOLOGIES: Apologies for absence from the meeting were 

submitted on behalf of Councillors E R Butler, 
R C Carter, B S Chapman, Mrs A Donaldson, 
L George, R Harrison, R B Howe, 
Mrs P A Jordan, K D Wainwright and D Watt. 

   

54. PRAYER   
 
 The Archdeacon of Huntingdon and Wisbech, Hugh McCurdy, 

opened the meeting with a prayer. 
 

55. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS   
 
 The Chairman presented to the Council an account of the activities 

both he and the Vice-Chairman had attended since the last meeting. 
The Chairman referred to his attendance at the civic carol service in 
St Ives and wreath laying in Peterborough before Christmas. He also 
reported upon the Gold Duke of Edinburgh Award ceremony at 
Comberton Village college and the Holocaust Memorial Day with 
Councillor Mrs B E Boddington last month. He also reported upon his 
success at achieving second place, albeit a shared place, at the 
recent annual pancake flipathon. 
 

56. MINUTES   
 
 The Minutes of the meeting of the Council held on 13th December 

2018 were approved as a correct record and signed by the Chairman. 
In so doing Councillor Mrs S A Giles referred to an outstanding 
response on ‘rough sleepers’, whereby the Managing Director 
undertook to provide a full response following the meeting. 
 
 

5

Agenda Item 1



57. MEMBERS INTERESTS'   
 
 No declarations were received.  

 

58. 2018/19 BUDGET AND MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 
(2019/20 TO 2022/23)   

 
 The Chairman reminded Members of the decision made by the 

Council to suspend Council Procedure Rule 11 (Rules of Debate) to 
enable a full debate to be made by Members on the 2018/19 Budget 
and Medium Term Financial Strategy in an open manner.  The 
Council therefore 
  
RESOLVED 
  

that Council Procedure Rule 11 (Rules of Debate) be suspended 
for the duration of the discussion on Minute No. 58, during which 
time the common law rules of debate be observed by Members 
and applied by the Chairman. 

 
In conjunction with a report by the Head of Resources and 
PowerPoint presentation (copies of which are appended in the Minute 
Book), the Executive Councillor for Strategic Resources presented to 
Members the 2018/19 Revenue Budget, the Medium Term Financial 
Strategy (MTFS) for the period 2019/20 to 2022/23, the Treasury 
Management Policy, Strategy and Prudential, Treasury Management 
and Commercial Investment Strategy (CIS) Indicators for 2018/19 and 
other associated matters for the Council’s consideration and approval. 
 
In accordance with Section (30)2 of the Local Government Finance 
Act 1992, the Council also considered proposals for levels of Council 
Tax in 2018/19 for various parts of the Huntingdonshire district.  
 
In his opening remarks, Councillor Gray drew Members attention to 
the highlights of the budget for the forthcoming year, including 
proposals for an increase in Council Tax of 2% that was lower than 
state pension and wage increases and ultimately more affordable. 
Members also noted that the minimum level of general fund reserves 
was set to increase to £2.7m as a result of the grant settlement from 
Government, the Council’s policy to increase Council Tax and the 
savings, income and growth built into the 2018/19 budget and MTFS. 
 
Attention was drawn to specific changes in service budgets and the 
resultant impact on the final budget, including commercialisation and 
service changes for CCTV, increase in homelessness resources as a 
consequence of new legislation, changes to charging for planning 
services, income from car parking with no changes to car parking fees 
currently, significant contribution of £190k to the budget from the 
Leisure and Health Service, substantial investment in ICT for the roll 
out of the Council Anywhere project and income from the CIS. 
 
Councillor Gray reminded Members of the process of consideration of 
the draft budget, from informal Cabinet in December 2017 with Senior 
Officers through to consideration of the draft and final budget at 
Overview and Scrutiny and Cabinet. He reported that this was the 
seventh budget that he had delivered but had by far involved the most 
robust discussions and thanked all Members for their input. 
 
 

6



In comparing past and future budgets, Members attention was drawn 
to forthcoming changes that would be emerging through the 
transformation programme to deliver services for its residents in an 
efficient and effective manner with the savings ring-fenced to deliver 
more efficiencies across Council services. Councillor Gray also 
appraised Members with the increase in capital investment 
specifically in Disabled Facilities Grants, with an increase from £300k 
in the current year to £800k in 2018/19 to reflect the increasingly 
important interaction with social care and the ageing population. 
 
In referring to the success of One Leisure, Councillor Gray reported 
that the extension of the lease at St Neots had now been signed 
thereby allowing the long awaited investments of the 3G pitch and 
swimming pool, with investment already taken place in St Ives, 
Huntingdon and Ramsey centres. 
 
An assumption of a 2% increase in Council Tax over the next four 
years had been provided to account for the removal of the Revenue 
Support Grant as of 2019/20 and Councillor Gray advised Members 
that in 2018/19 the Council would meet its objective of being self-
financing and free from Government grant. In comparing previous 
budgets, Members noted that in 2012 £3.6m was being taken out of 
the General reserve and in 2018/19 £3m was being placed into the 
General reserve ensuring the protection of front line services for 
residents. Councillor Gray reported that this had been achieved by 
balancing services that residents want, whilst maintaining reserves 
and setting a Council Tax level that was affordable to its residents. 
 
In relation to the CIS, a key part of the Council’s overall budget 
strategy, Councillor Gray reported that the Council had currently been 
in discussions regarding some options in the district and also referred 
to phases two and three of the CIS that would involve investments in 
housing and retail in an attempt to revitalise the town centres. 
 
Members noted the thresholds in place for short and long term 
borrowing and the self-imposed limit of not reducing the level of 
reserves to lower than 15% as proposed by Overview and Scrutiny. 
Councillor Gray reported upon the Treasury Management activity that 
had been reviewed fully by Members previously and stressed the 
importance of minimising risk through its investments.  
 
In concluding his presentation, Councillor Gray thanked Officers and 
Members for their input into delivering the 2018/19 budget that had 
resulted into the Council remaining financially stable and strong with 
clear ambitions to drive forward change and develop new ways of 
working.  
 
Councillor Gray moved the recommendations which were duly 
seconded by the Executive Leader, Councillor G J Bull. 
 
In response and on behalf of the Liberal Democrat Group and Leader 
of the Principal Opposition Group, Councillor Mrs S J Conboy thanked 
the Executive Councillors and Officers for providing ongoing stability 
and support for the 2% increase in Council Tax despite the Liberal 
Democrat Group proposing a similar increase in previous years. In so 
doing Councillor Mrs Conboy drew attention to concerns in relation to 
the risks associated with running at the lowest possible reserve rate 
with not much margin for error but also indicated her hope for HDC 
Ventures that may play an important part in maintaining the overall 

7



budget.  
 
Members noted Councillor Mrs Conboy’s concerns in relation to 
continued staff absences impacting of services, but welcomed the 
investment in homelessness that would assist the increased demands 
on emergency shelter accommodation and the provision of temporary 
accommodation as an alternative to Bed and Breakfast 
accommodation. Councillor Mrs Conboy noted that the decision to 
maintain the Customer Service Centres had been a factor in the 
overspend of the budget and requested that engagement be made at 
an earlier stage of the budget setting and policy making process in 
order that further pressure is not experienced that may benefit one 
area at an overall cost to the District. Furthermore, concern was 
expressed of an increased risk to flooding in the District and the 
demand that would be placed upon the flood risk payment provision.   
 
Councillor D A Giles, on behalf of the HDC Independent Group, 
referred to the imbalance of investment of the CIS out of area 
compared with in the District and hoped that the balance would 
change to invest more in the District resulting in increased business 
rates and employment opportunities.  
 
On behalf of UKIP, Councillor P D Reeve outlined their support for 
much of the strategy and endorsed the work of the Cabinet and 
Officers but not endorsement of an increase in Council Tax. 
 
Councillor R G Tuplin and P Kadewere indicated their support for the 
budget and thanked Councillor Gray for the clear presentation. 
 
Councillor T Hayward expressed his concern for the reduction of 
resources in the Audit Team as highlighted in correspondence from 
the Internal Audit and Risk Manager and his concern that the reduced 
resources may impact upon the governance of the Council. In 
response Councillor Gray had confidence that the Council had the 
right balance of resources, this had confirmed by the external auditors 
but undertook to re-examine the resourcing level in the Audit Team at 
Councillor Hayward’s request. 
 
In response to a question from Councillor T D Sanderson, Councillor 
Gray confirmed that the forecast outturn of overspend was estimated 
to be £700k. 
 
Councillor S Greenall highlighted his concerns in relation to the level 
of overspend on the hired staff budget for 2017/18 and the budget 
allocation for 2018/19 of £200k. He suggested that this budget 
allocation may need further review. 
 
In congratulating Councillor Gray and Officers on the budget, 
Councillor M F Shellens outlined his concerns in relation to voting on 
the recommendations as a single item, in particular his concerns 
where the budget is dependent upon commercial income that can go 
up and down. He also highlighted an issue in relation to car parking in 
Huntingdon, with particular congestion at the weekends that could 
ultimately deter shoppers away from the town and requested the 
investigation of an additional tier to the Princes Street Car Park in the 
forthcoming year.  
 
Councillor Sanderson referred to the level of overspend in the budget 
this year as a result of some budgets being cut too far and too fast. 

8



He indicated his concerns for the 177 families that remained 
homeless, the continual borrowing for the CIS and failure to follow 
Government advice to pass down further funding assistance to Town 
and Parish Councils. 
 
Councillor D B Dew congratulated Members on the budget and 
referred to the target set to work together with Overview and Scrutiny 
that should be commended that their opinions had been considered 
and dealt with through the draft budget setting process. He referred to 
the success of One Leisure and car parking that had been generating 
significant income and support for the CIS. Although anti-increase of 
Council Tax, Councillor Dew understood the requirement to maintain 
levels with inflation and outlined this support for the budget. 
 
In referring to the proposed Council Tax increase Councillor T D 
Alban suggested that the vulnerable needed to be protected, whilst 
maintaining services at a level that residents could afford to pay and 
outlined his support for this budget.  
 
Councillor R Fuller indicated his support for the budget but in 
response to comments made by Councillor Sanderson he explained 
that the Council had been doing more than it had ever done assisting 
those in need and had been there for residents in times of crisis. He 
referred to the demand being met for temporary accommodation for 
those in need and the funding of £189K allocated to meet the 
demands imposed by the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017. In 
referring to the 177 homeless figure quoted by Councillor Sanderson, 
this had referred to residents in temporary accommodation and not 
sleeping rough on the streets. Councillor Fuller also referred to 
investment of £260k in the front line planning process that would 
assist in speeding up the planning application system.  
 
By reference to the Transformation Programme, Councillor S Cawley 
indicated that it had produced a number of savings and efficiencies 
and although not naturally in support of an increase in Council Tax, 
the District Council’s element was lower than had been precepted by 
Huntingdon Town Council with 50% of their budget on staff as 
opposed to 17% of the District Council’s budget allocation on staff. 
 
Councillor D M Tysoe referred to the robust discussions and debate 
at Overview and Scrutiny and in indicating his support for the budget, 
he welcomed the forward plan to identify further income through the 
CIS and other innovative approaches to support the removal of the 
Revenue Support Grant. 
 
In concluding the discussion he thanked Members for their 
contributions and although disagreed with the comments by 
Councillor Mrs Conboy on running at too low a level of reserves he 
concurred that that there were risks associated with investment in the 
CIS with levels of income going up and down and had therefore 
requested Overview and Scrutiny to look at the level of income that 
had been generated, with a view to looking at further investment into 
housing and retail in the future. Councillor Gray agreed that the levels 
of absences had been higher than they wanted, but equally wanted 
Officers to be proud of working for the Council.  
 
The investment in the CIS had yielded a higher return, resulting in the 
Council re-investing the return into front line services and Councillor 
Gray referred to the opportunities to invest further in Huntingdonshire 

9



that had not yet materialised, but had been guided by experienced 
Officers. Councillor Gray concurred with the issues highlighted in 
relation to car parking and although the waste round reconfiguration 
had not delivered the savings as predicted, he was confident that the 
budget could be pulled back further.  
 
It having been previously moved and seconded, upon being put to the 
vote it was further 
 

(a) that the proposed overall Budget 2018/19 and Medium Term 
Financial Strategy (MTFS) 2019/20 to 2022/23 (Appendix 1) to 
include the Revenue Budgets at Section 2, the Capital 
Programme at Section 3 and the 2018/19 Fees and Charges 
(at Section 7, Annex A) be approved; 
 

(b) that an increase of 2% in Council Tax for 2018/19 be 
approved, i.e the Band D Charge will increase to £138.56; 
 

(c) that the Council note the Council Tax Base for the whole 
Council area and individual Towns and Parishes (para 6.2) as 
approved by Cabinet on 1st December 2017 (and subsequent 
publication as a key decision). 

 
The tax base T which is the amount 
anticipated from a District Council Tax of 
£1 is 

£60,984 

 
(d) that the following amounts calculated by the Council for 

2018/19 be approved in accordance with the requirements of 
the Local Government Finance Act 1992 as amended by the 
Localism Act 2011 (the Act), the Local Government Finance 
Act 2012 and associated regulations:- 

 
(i) the aggregate of the amounts which 

the Council estimates for the items 
set out in Section 31A(2) (a) to (f) 
of the Act 
Gross revenue expenditure 
including benefits, Town and 
Parish Precepts 

£79,634,831 

(ii) the aggregate of the amounts which 
the Council estimates for the items 
set out in Section 31A(3) (a) to (d) 
of the Act 
Revenue income including 
reimbursement of benefits, 
specific and general grants, use 
of reserves and any transfers 
from the collection fund. 
 

£65,237,972 

(iii) the amount by which the aggregate at 
(i) above exceeds the aggregate at 
(ii) above in accordance with 
Section 31A(4) of the Act 
This is the “Council Tax 
Requirement” including 
Parish/Town Precepts (item i 
minus item ii). It is the cash sum 
to be funded from District, Town 

£14,396,859 

10



and Parish Council Taxes. 
 

(iv) the Council Tax requirement for 
2018/19 divided by the tax base 
(T) in accordance with Section 
31B(1) of the Act 
District plus average 
Town/Parish Council Tax (item 
iii divided by District taxbase) 
 

£236.08 

(v) the aggregate of all “Special Items” 
referred to in Section 34(1) of the 
Act 
The total value of Parish/Town 
precepts included in i and iii 
above. 
 

£5,946,820 

(vi) the Basic Amount of Council Tax for 
2018/19 being item iv less item v 
divided by the tax base (T) in 
accordance with Section 34(2) of 
the Act. 
The District Council’s Band D 
Tax for 2018/19 

£138.56 

(vii) the basic amounts of Council Tax for 
2018/19 for those parts of the 
District to which one or more 
special items (Parish/Town 
precepts) relate in accordance 
with Section 34(3) of the Act are 
shown by adding the 
Huntingdonshire District Council 
amount to the appropriate Parish 
Council amount in column “band 
D” set out in Table 1 attached to 
the Agenda of the meeting of the 
Council held on 21st February 
2018. 
 

(viii) the amounts to be taken into 
account for 2018/19 in respect of 
dwellings listed in particular 
valuation bands in accordance 
with Section 36(1) of the Act are 
shown by adding the 
Huntingdonshire District Council 
amount to the appropriate Parish 
Council amount for each of the 
valuation bands in the columns 
“bands A to H” set out in Table 1 
attached to the Agenda of the 
meeting of the Council held on 
21st February 2018. 

 
(e) that the amounts of precept issued to  the Council by 

Cambridgeshire County Council, Cambridgeshire Office of the 
Police and Crime Commissioner, Cambridgeshire & 
Peterborough Fire Authority and for each Parish Council for 
each of the categories of dwellings listed in different valuation 

11



bands in accordance with Section 40 of the Act shown in para 
6.3 be noted. 
 

(f) that, having regard to the calculations above, the Council in 
accordance with Section 30(2) of the Act, hereby sets the 
figures shown in para 6.4 as the amounts of Council Tax for 
2018/19 for each of the categories of dwelling shown. This is 
the total Council Tax to be collected, incorporating the 
requirements of all of the relevant bodies, for each town 
or parish area. 
 

(g) that the Council notes that, in accordance with Section 52ZB 
of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, the basic amount 
of its Council Tax for 2018/19 is not excessive. The basic 
amount at b(vi) above is not excessive as defined by the 
Government. 

 
Tax Base 2018/19 

 
Abbotsley 258 Holywell-cum-

Needingworth 
973 

Abbots Ripton 130 Houghton & Wyton 793 
Alconbury 558 Huntingdon 7387 
Alconbury Weston 286 Kimbolton & 

Stonely 
591 

Alwalton 117 Kings Ripton 83 
Barham & Woolley 29 Leighton 

Bromswold 
79 

Bluntisham 736 Little Paxton 1557 
Brampton 1,911 Morborne 10 
Brington & 
Molesworth 

158 Offord Cluny & 
Offord D’Arcy 

505 

Broughton 90 Old Hurst 104 
Buckden 
(incorporating 
Diddington) 

1,173 Old Weston 96 

Buckworth 50 Perry 271 
Bury 621 Pidley-cum-Fenton 165 
Bythorn & Keyston 149 Ramsey 2,822 
Catworth 151 St Ives 5,920 
Chesterton 61 St Neots 10,963 
Colne 369 Sawtry 1,871 
Conington 70 Sibson-cum-

Stibbington 
229 

Covington 44 Somersham 1,377 
Denton & Caldecote 27 Southoe & Midloe 154 
Earith 589 Spaldwick 243 
Easton 78 Stilton 773 
Ellington 235 Stow Longa 70 
Elton 290 The Stukeleys 615 
Farcet 519 Tilbrook 124 
Fenstanton 1,198 Toseland 39 
Folksworth & 
Washingley 

353 Upton & 
Coppingford 

87 

Glatton 130 Upwood & The 
Raveleys 

429 

Godmanchester 2,530 Warboys 1,428 
Grafham 237 Waresley-cum-

Tetworth 
145 

12



Great & Little 
Gidding 

126 Water Newton 44 

Great Gransden 449 Winwick 46 
Great Paxton 368 Wistow 225 
Great Staughton 322 Woodhurst 157 
Haddon 25 Woodwalton 84 
Hail Weston 246 Wyton-on-the-Hill 420 
Hamerton & Steeple 
Gidding 

50 Yaxley 2,930 

Hemingford Abbots 332 Yelling 151 
Hemingford Grey 1,274   
Hilton 450 TOTAL 60,984 
Holme 235   

 
 
 

(h) that future savings targets of £1.0m of Net Expenditure by 
2022/23 (Appendix 2) be approved; and 
 

(i) that the 2018/19 Treasury Management Policy, Strategy and 
Indicators and the Annual Minimum Revenue Policy (Appendix 
3) be approved.  
 

In accordance with the Local Authorities (Standing Order) 
(England) (Amendment) Regulations 2014 the following Members 
voted for, against or abstained from the Motion – 
 
For the Motion – Ablewhite, Alban, Baker, Bober, Boddington, 
Brown, Bucknell, Bull, Cawley, Conboy, Corley, Criswell, Davies, 
Dew, Dickinson,  Francis, Fuller, Gardener, Gray, Greenall, 
Hayward, Hyland, Kadewere, Mathews, Mead, Morris, Palmer, 
Reynolds, Swain, Tavener, Tuplin, Tuplin, Tysoe, Underwood, 
West and White. 
 
Against the Motion – Duffy, Reeve and Sanderson. 
 
Abstentions – D Giles, S Giles, Shellens and Taylor. 

 

59. REVIEW OF THE CODE OF FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND 
CODE OF PROCUREMENT   

 
 By way of a report by the Head of Resources (a copy of which is 

appended in the Minute Book) Councillor M F Francis, Chairman of 
the Corporate Governance Committee presented details of the 
outcome of reviews of the Codes of Financial Management and of 
Procurement as endorsed by the Corporate Governance Committee 
at their meeting on 17th January 2018. The Codes were reviewed 
regularly to ensure they reflected current legislation and the changing 
needs of the Council. 
 
In addition to the recent introduction of new policies and changes to 
existing policies, a primary source of changes to the Codes was the 
establishment of HDC Ventures. The latter would need to be included 
within the Council’s Statement of Accounts and required the Council 
to refer to it in its advertisements and notices. Whereupon, it was 
 
RESOLVED 
 

that the revised Code of Financial Management and the Code of 

13



Procurement as appended to the report now submitted be 
approved. 

 

60. CORPORATE ENFORCEMENT POLICY   
 
 In conjunction with a report by the Head of Community (a copy of 

which is appended in the Minute Book) Councillor Mrs A Dickinson, 
Executive Councillor for Community Resilience, Well-Being and 
Regulatory Services appraised the Council with a presentation on a 
Corporate Enforcement Policy for the District Council, comprising two 
documents designed to standardise enforcement across the Council’s 
regulatory services. Attention was drawn to the formal policy 
document that set out the principles of enforcement, whilst adhering 
to the regulatory and legislative framework to assist individuals and 
businesses to ensure compliance with the law. The second document 
sets out the operational guidance of how enforcement would be 
carried out, detailing the alternative approaches for different breaches 
and enforcement action.   
 
Having noted that the draft policy had been designed to ensure a 
consistent approach from the Council’s regulatory services, Members 
noted that the draft documents had been discussed by the 
Development Management Committee, Overview and Scrutiny Panel 
(Communities and Environment), Licensing and Protection/Licensing 
Committees and the Cabinet and Members views had been taken into 
account, it was 
 
RESOLVED 
 

(a) that the Corporate Enforcement Policy Statement and 
Corporate Enforcement Policy as appended to the report 
now submitted be approved; and 
 

(b) that the Head of Community and Head of Development 
Services be authorised to make minor editorial changes to 
the Corporate Enforcement Policy Statement and 
Corporate Enforcement Policy which by definition make no 
change to the scope or meaning of the Policy. 

 

61. PAY POLICY STATEMENT 2018/19   
 
 In compliance with the requirements of Sections 38 - 43 of the 

Localism Act 2011, Councillor S Cawley, Executive Councillor for 
Transformation and Customers presented a report by the HR 
Manager (a copy of which is appended in the Minute Book) in 
connection with the District Council’s Pay Policy Statement for 
2019/19.  
 

The Statement, which is required to be approved by the Council by 
31st March 2018 was now produced annually and detailed the 
Council’s policies relating to Officer remuneration. 
 

Accordingly and having noted that a copy of the Pay Policy Statement 
would be publicised on the Council’s website along with data on 
senior salaries under the Code of Recommended Practice for Local 
Authorities on Data Transparency 2011, it was moved by Councillor 
Cawley, duly seconded and 
 
 

14



RESOLVED 
 

that the Policy Statement for 2018/19 be approved. 
 

62. MEMBERS ALLOWANCES - ANNUAL ADJUSTMENT   
 
 Having regard to a report by the Elections and Democratic Services 

Manager (a copy of which is appended in the Minute Book) in respect 
of the terms of the Members’ Allowances Scheme which provided for 
an annual adjustment  of allowances in accordance with the 
automatic index mechanism of 2%, the Executive Leader referred to 
the lack of pay increases for Council employees and had 
acknowledged staff performance. In debating the proposal, Councillor 
P D Reeve moved and it was duly seconded by Councillor L A Duffy 
that the following amendment be made to the recommendations of 
the report by the Elections and Democratic Services Manager that – 
 
the Council scrap all Members Allowances and Special Responsibility 
Allowances. 
 
Upon being put to the vote the Motion by Councillor Reeve was 
declared to be LOST.  
 
Having been reminded of the original proposal, the Council 
 
RESOLVED 
 
 that there be no increase in Members’ allowances in the 

financial year 2018/19. 
 

63. LEAD AND DEPUTY INDEPENDENT PERSONS   
 
 In conjunction with consideration of the item at the meeting of the 

Corporate Governance Committee on 17th January 2018, the 
Chairman of the Committee, Councillor M Francis presented to the 
Council a report by the Elections and Democratic Services Manager 
and Deputy Monitoring Officer (a copy of which is appended in the 
Minute Book) seeking the re-appointment of the Lead and Deputy 
Lead Independent Persons for a further two year period.  
 
Councillor Francis reminded Members that in accordance with the 
Localism Act 2011, it was necessary for the Council to appoint one or 
more Independent Persons and acquainted the Council with the 
backgrounds of the proposed appointments.  
 
Whereupon, it was 
 
RESOLVED 

 
 that the re-appointment of Mrs Gillian Holmes and Mr Peter 

Baker to the posts of Lead and Deputy Independent Persons 
respectively be reaffirmed for a further two year period to 30th 
April 2020 without the need for further ratification in each year 
by the Council at its Annual Meeting. 

 

64. QUESTIONS TO MEMBERS OF THE CABINET   
 
 Councillor J M Morris outlined a series of questions directed towards 

Councillor Fuller on action the Council proposed to take to reduce the 

15



number of long term empty homes in the District and with 400+ 
homes empty for more than six months what has the Council done to 
bring them back into use. He further questioned whether the Council 
would consider exploring the option of offering financial assistance to 
owners of long term empty homes to assist with renovation to make 
them habitable and consideration to the implementation of an Empty 
Homes Strategy.  
 
In response, Councillor Fuller referred to the technical definition of 
empty homes being over two years and with 122 empty homes across 
the whole District it represented the second lowest in the County and 
0.2% of the District’s housing stock. He explained that there may be a 
series of reasons why the homes had remained empty, from probate 
issues through to gaps in tenancies. He reminded Members of their 
adoption of the Housing Strategy last year with a policy on empty 
homes that had been considered by a cross-party working groups and 
approved. In conclusion, the Chairman suggested that Members 
would benefit from a briefing on the subject to further clarify any 
misunderstandings as he suggested that this was a concern for many 
Members.  
 
In response to a question by Councillor T Hayward on closure of the 
level crossing at Buckden and The Offords, Councillor Fuller 
explained that representations had been made previously to the 
Minister and Network Rail on this issue that had been assimilated into 
discussions on the East/West rail link and a response had been 
expected imminently. Councillor Hayward further questioned the 
potential for re-treeing the A14 following the decimation of the route of 
trees and planting, with Highways England indicating that planting 
would commence as each section had been completed and 
Councillor Fuller undertook to take on-board the issue raised with a 
view to continuing discussions. 
 
Arising from a question from Councillor T D Sanderson, Councillor 
Fuller explained that the Council’s responsibility for homeless families 
did not end until they had been adequately provided for. 
 
Councillor P Kadewere requested an update on the issues raised at 
the previous Council meeting of the post master at the Oxmoor, 
whereby the Executive Leader had referred the matter previously to 
the Commercial Estates Team and undertook to follow up the issue 
again. He further raised a question in relation to the closure of shops 
within the Town Centres and what the Council could do to assist 
revitalise these locations. In response, Councillor Gray referred to his 
presentation and the CIS focus at looking at opportunities for 
investment in the High Street and would look to work with retailers in 
all of the market towns to take forward this vision. 
 
Councillor P L E Bucknell raised a question in relation to the proposal 
in Warboys for two waste treatment plants for biomass energy to burn 
waste wood and process polluted water and highlighted residents’ 
concerns in relation to the location and operating hours and whether 
the Council had replied to the consultation on the planning 
application. In response Councillor Fuller explained that although he 
did not have the power to influence planning applications the 
Executive Leader and Councillor Mrs J Tavener had made 
representations to him previously and although the matter rested with 
the County Council he undertook contact the Head of Development to 
ensure that a representation had been submitted on this matter.    

16



 

65. CAMBRIDGESHIRE AND PETERBOROUGH COMBINED 
AUTHORITY - UPDATE   

 
 In conjunction with the decision summaries of the recent meetings of 

the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Combined Authority, 
Councillor G J Bull presented an update of their activities by way of a 
PowerPoint presentation. Copies of which are appended in the Minute 
Book.  
 
Councillor Bull reported that the LEP had been absorbed into the 
Combined Authority, as at end March 2018 a new business board 
would be created under the Chairman of the Leader of East 
Cambridgeshire District Council, Councillor Roberts and sharing the 
Chief Executive with the Combined Authority.  
 
Members were provided with an update on Mass Rapid Transport, 
improving links to Cambridge and investigation of potential mass 
transport options, with approval of a £600k budget to progress these 
ideas, including two tunnels under Cambridge for use by road worthy 
vehicles.  
 
Councillor Bull reported that the budget had been approved by the 
Combined Authority, with no precept to the constituent authorities. He 
further reported on more changes to the Portfolio Holders and the 
potential to consider moving to three portfolios – Transport and 
Infrastructure, Housing and Economic Development. Members also 
noted that a steering group had been established for the St Neots 
Masterplan and business plans were under development for 
submission and consideration by the Combined Authority. 
 
Attention was also drawn to the Combined Authority four year plan 
summary that outlined the strategic objectives of the Combined 
Authority and the projects and programmes in place to deliver these 
objectives.   
 
Councillor T D Alban raised a question in relation to the rapid 
transport issue and the unintended consequences of the guided bus 
having a detrimental impact on bus services and concern for similar 
issues occurring, whereby Councillor Bull explained that a review of 
the bus subsidy programme was underway and would be in place 
later in the year. 
 
Councillor T Hayward provided an update on the Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough Combined Authority Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
He provided a summary of discussions at their previous meetings and 
advised Members that the Committee had been looking at 
forthcoming decisions of the Combined Authority and held a special 
meeting for the budget on 12th February 2018, whereby concerns 
were raised in relation to how it had been set up and the scope of the 
business consultation had not been broad enough. He further 
reported upon the issues of the LEP and the Committee concluded 
that the budget could not be completed until the costs had been 
incorporated into it for the LEP. There was concern over the lack of 
detail and the £175m in reserves and questioned what this had been 
earmarked for. Members also requested further clarity on the forward 
plan of the Combined Authority. 
 
Councillor Hayward reiterated his concerns with the further changes 

17



in Portfolio Holders and concern for these Members to fully 
understand their Portfolios and the associated budget. In outlining his 
concern for the four year plan, he highlighted to Members the difficulty 
with getting the background to the reasons for why decision had been 
taken by the Combined Authority, but had indicated that the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee were represented by a good cross party of 
Members. 
 
Arising from a question by Councillor Mrs S J Conboy on the 
cancellation of the meeting with the Mayor of the Combined Authority, 
Councillor Hayward confirmed that the meeting would be 
rescheduled. 
 
On behalf of the Council, Councillor J A Gray thanked Councillor 
Hayward for his diligence and work in ensuring good governance of 
the Combined Authority. 
 
Councillor T D Sanderson confirmed that he had not attended the 
Audit and Governance Committee and was therefore unable to report. 
 

66. OUTCOMES FROM COMMITTEES AND PANELS   
 
 A copy of the list of meetings held since the last meeting of the 

Council held on 13th December 2017 is appended in the Minute Book 
and Members were advised that any issues or questions could be 
raised in relation to these meetings. 
 

67. REPRESENTATION OF POLITICAL GROUPS ON DISTRICT 
COUNCIL COMMITTEES AND PANELS   

 
 A report was submitted by the Elections and Democratic Services 

Manager (a copy of which is appended in the Minute Book) relating to 
the principles of proportionality to be applied to the appointment of 
Committees and Panels in accordance with Section 15 of the Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989 and Part II of the Local 
Government Act 2000 following the change in membership of the 
HDC Independent Group. 
  
Whereupon it was 
  
RESOLVED 
  

(a) that the allocation of seats on Committees and Panels 
to political groups and non-aligned Members be 
determined as set out in the report now submitted; and 

 
(b) that the requirements for appointments to advisory/sub-

groups in paragraph 5.3 be noted. 
 

68. VARIATIONS TO THE MEMBERSHIP OF COMMITTEES AND 
PANELS   

 
 Further to Minute No. 67 ante, it was  

 
RESOLVED 
 

(a) that Councillors C E Bober and J E Corley continue as 
Members of  the Development Management Committee as 
Independent Group Members; 

18



 

(b) that Councillor P D Reeve be appointed to the Licensing 
and Protection/Licensing Committee in place of 
Councillor J E Corley; 

(c) that Councillor J E Corley be appointed to the Licensing 
and Protection/Licensing Committee in place of 
Councillor R G Tuplin; 

(d) that Councillor D A Giles be appointed to the Overview 
and Scrutiny Panel (Economy and Growth) in place of C 
E Bober; 

(e) that Councillor T Hayward and B S Chapman be 
appointed to the Employment Committee in place of Ms 
L A Duffy and C E Bober;  

(f) that Councillor Mrs S J Conboy be appointed to the 
Senior Officers Committee in place of Councillor B S 
Chapman; and  

(g) that the Cabinet be advised to report that Councillor D R 
Underwood be appointed to the membership of the 
Hinchingbrooke Country Park Joint Group. 

 

The meeting ended at 9.34pm. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Chairman 
 

19



This page is intentionally left blank



Public 
 

 

 
 

HUNTINGDONSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
 
Title/Subject Matter: Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 
 
Meeting/Date: Council - 26 March 2018 
  
  
Executive Portfolio: Councillor Ryan Fuller – Deputy Leader and Executive 

Councillor for Housing and Planning 
 
Report by: Planning Policy Team Leader 
 
Ward(s) affected: Houghton and Wyton 
 

 
Executive Summary:  

 
The Referendum on the Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan resulted in a 96% 
‘Yes’ vote in support of making the Neighbourhood Plan part of the statutory 
development plan.  As this exceeds the threshold of 50% of votes cast the Council is 
required to formally ‘make’ the Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan unless the 
Council considers that it would be incompatible with any EU or human rights 
obligation.  This means that it will be used to help decide planning applications in the 
neighbourhood area.  
 
It is not considered that doing so would be incompatible with any EU or human rights 
obligation and the Plan must therefore be ‘made’. 
 
Recommendation(s): 
 
To make the Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan in the form attached as 
Appendix 1 with immediate effect such that it becomes part of the statutory 
development plan for Huntingdonshire. 
 

 

21

Agenda Item 3



 

1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to consider whether the Houghton and Wyton 

Neighbourhood Plan should be officially ‘made’, so that it becomes part of the 
statutory development plan for Huntingdonshire. 

 
 
2. WHY IS THIS REPORT NECESSARY/BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 The Houghton and Wyton neighbourhood area was formally designated on 19th 

December 2012.  Statutory consultation on the submission neighbourhood plan 
ran from 19th June to 31st July 2015.  An independent examination took place 
from 14th September to 14th December 2015.  The Examiner proposed a 
number of modifications to the neighbourhood plan, which were discussed with 
representatives of Houghton and Wyton Parish Council.  It was agreed that if 
applied the modifications would result in a neighbourhood plan that would not 
reflect the community’s views and aspirations.  Officers therefore worked with 
the parish council to formulate alternative modifications that would meet the 
basic conditions and better meet the community views and be closer aligned 
with the original submission neighbourhood plan. 
 

2.2 Alternative modifications were prepared and consulted on from 7th April to 22nd 
May 2017.  Following consultation the examination was reopened on 7th 
September 2017 with a new examiner.  The examiner’s report on the 
examination of the alternative modifications was received on 20th November 
2017.  The Examiner proposed a number of modifications to the alternative 
modifications in order for them to meet the basic conditions and recommended 
that the neighbourhood plan, incorporating the modifications from the original 
examination process (those that had been accepted previously) and the 
alternative modifications, as modified, should proceed to referendum. 

 
2.3 Both examiners’ reports confirmed that there was nothing in the Houghton and 

Wyton Neighbourhood Plan that would be likely to lead to any breach of the 
European Convention on Human Rights.  They also confirmed that the 
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan is compatible with EU obligations 
arising from the Habitats Regulations Assessments and other directives. 

 
2.4 The process for agreeing post-examination modifications to a neighbourhood 

plan was agreed at Cabinet on 19th November 2015.  In accordance with that 
procedure approval was gained for the Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood 
Plan including proposed modifications to progress to referendum from Cabinet 
on 18th January 2018.  The Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan for use in 
the Referendum is attached as Appendix 1. 

 
3. ANALYSIS 
 
3.1 A referendum was held on the Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan on 

Thursday 1st March 2018 where the statutorily set question was posed asking 
residents of the designated neighbourhood area: “Do you want Huntingdonshire 
District Council to use the Neighbourhood Plan for Houghton and Wyton to help 
it decide planning applications in the neighbourhood area?” 

 
3.2 A total of 1,404 persons were entitled to vote in the referendum; 612 ballot 

papers were issued for the referendum representing a turnout of 43.6%.  The 
number of votes cast in favour of a ‘Yes’ was 589, the number of votes cast in 
favour of a ‘No’ was 23 and 0 ballot papers were rejected.  This indicated a very 
clear majority of 96% voting in favour of using the Houghton and Wyton 

22



Neighbourhood Plan to help decide planning applications within the designated 
neighbourhood area. 

 
3.3 As the Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan was endorsed by more than 

the required threshold of 50% of those voting the Council must now ‘make’ the 
Neighbourhood Plan such that it becomes part of the statutory development 
plan for Huntingdonshire unless the Council considers that doing so would be 
incompatible with any EU or human rights obligation.  It is not considered that 
doing so would be incompatible with any EU or human rights obligation and the 
Plan must therefore be ‘made’. 

 
4. KEY IMPACTS / RISKS 

 
4.1 The key impacts of this are the reiteration of the importance of the plan-led 

system with town and parish councils and residents of the neighbourhood plan 
area having the opportunity to positively influence how their community grows in 
the future. 

 
4.2 Successful ‘making’ of a Neighbourhood Plan entitles Houghton and Wyton 

Parish Council to an increased proportion of CIL receipts from development 
within the neighbourhood area, up from 15% to 25%. 

 
5. LINK TO THE CORPORATE PLAN, STRATEGIC PRIORITIES AND / OR 

CORPORATE OBJECTIVES 
 
5.1 ‘Making’ the Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan will help to deliver the 

Corporate Plan objective of ‘Enabling Communities’, with particular regard to 
‘Develop stronger and more resilient communities to enable people to help 
themselves’. 

 
6. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  
 
6.1 Section 38A(4)(a) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires 

the Council to ‘make’ the Neighbourhood Plan if more than half of those voting 
in the referendum have voted in favour.  The Council is content that the 
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan meets the specified basic conditions, 
does not breach the European Convention on Human Rights and is not 
incompatible with EU obligations arising from the Habitats Regulations 
Assessments and other directives. 

 
7. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 An additional 10% of CIL receipts within the neighbourhood area will be passed 

over to Houghton and Wyton Parish Council.  This may have implications on 
resource availability for infrastructure projects provided by this Council.  
Additional support, both financial and partnership working, may be sought to 
help deliver some of the projects identified in the Houghton and Wyton 
Neighbourhood Plan. 

    
8. OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 The main implications of ‘making’ the Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood 

Plan should be positive as the policies look to promote good design of new 
development, protect green spaces which can assist physical and mental health 
and promote sustainable growth.  The policies within Houghton and Wyton 
Neighbourhood Plan will be used by Development Management to help 
determine planning applications within Houghton and Wyton.  As part of the 

23



basic conditions the Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan has been 
prepared in conformity with the Core Strategy (2009) and has also had regard 
to the emerging Local Plan to 2036.  Any conflict in policy should be resolved in 
accordance with the most recently adopted element of the development plan.   
 

 
9. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDED DECISIONS  
 
9.1 The Council has a statutory obligation to ‘make’ the Houghton and Wyton 

Neighbourhood Plan now that it has successfully passed the referendum stage. 
 

 
 
10. LIST OF APPENDICES INCLUDED 
 

Appendix 1 – Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 
 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
Cabinet reports; 19th November 2015 on post examination processes and 12th October 
2017 Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan examination outcome and progression 
to referendum. 
 
CONTACT OFFICER 
 
Clare Bond, Planning Policy Team Leader 
Tel No: 01480 388435 
Email: clare.bond@huntingdonshire.gov.uk 
 
 
 

24

http://applications.huntingdonshire.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/s74880/Establishment%20of%20a%20process%20following%20the%20receipt%20of%20an%20Examiners%20report%20into%20a%20neighbourhood%20plan.pdf
http://applications.huntingdonshire.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/s88620/Item%206%20-%20Godmanchester%20Neighbourhood%20Plan%20Report.pdf
http://applications.huntingdonshire.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/s88620/Item%206%20-%20Godmanchester%20Neighbourhood%20Plan%20Report.pdf
http://applications.huntingdonshire.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/s88620/Item%206%20-%20Godmanchester%20Neighbourhood%20Plan%20Report.pdf
mailto:clare.bond@huntingdonshire.gov.uk


  

 

 

 
 

          

                                               March 2018 

 Houghton & Wyton 
   Neighbourhood Development Plan 2018 - 2036 
                                     

25



   
 
 

 
Houghton & Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 

 

 

1 
 

     
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

26



  

Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 
 March 2018 

 

 

 
 

Part A – Referendum Neighbourhood Plan 

CONTENTS 

1 INTRODUCTION ..................................................................................... 1 

Background ......................................................................................................... 1 

2 LOCAL CONTEXT ..................................................................................... 4 

Houghton and Wyton today .................................................................................. 5 

3 VISION AND OBJECTIVES .................................................................... 12 

Challenges for Houghton and Wyton ................................................................... 12 

Vision for Houghton and Wyton .......................................................................... 12 

Objectives of the Neighbourhood Plan ................................................................. 14 

4 BUILT UP AREA .................................................................................... 15 

5 NATURAL ENVIRONMENT .................................................................. 177 

Protection of Sites ............................................................................................. 17 

Prevention of coalescence with St Ives ................................................................ 18  

Local Green Spaces ............................................................................................ 21 

Verges and Greens ............................................................................................ 23 

Biodiversity ....................................................................................................... 23 

Protection of agricultural and grazing land ........................................................... 25 

6 TOURISM .............................................................................................. 27 

Tourism development ........................................................................................ 27 

Provision of new tourist accommodation .............................................................. 28 

Change of use of tourist accommodation ............................................................. 29 

7 COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE .......................................................... 30 

Provision of new community facilities .................................................................. 30 

8 TRAFFIC AND TRANSPORT………………………………………………… 

…ERROR! BOOKMARK NOT DEFINED.31 

Parking ............................................................................................................. 31 

Access by non-car modes ................................................................................... 32 

9 FLOOD RISK AND DRAINAGE ............................................................... 34 

27



  

Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 
 March 2018 

 

 

 
 

10 BUSINESS ............................................................................................. 36 

Providing for the needs of new and existing businesses ........................................ 36 

11 HOUSING .............................................................................................. 38 

Small-scale residential development .................................................................... 38 

12 DESIGN OF NEW DEVELOPMENT ....................................................... 400 

13 MONITORING ....................................................................................... 43  

GLOSSARY .................................................................................................... 44 

 

Appendices 

Appendix 1  Character Areas 

Appendix 2  Greens & Verges 

Appendix 3     Community Action Plan 

Appendix 4     Listed Buildings 

 

PART B – COMMUNITY ASPIRATIONS 

Non-planning issues  

This does not form part of the statutory development plan – it contains community 

aspirations and Parish Council ambitions that cannot be included in policies in the 

Neighbourhood Plan  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

28



  

Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 
 March 2018 

 

 

 
 

 

 

Index of policies 

Policy HWNP1   - Houghton and Wyton built up area  

Policy HWNP2   - Protection of sites  

Policy HWNP3   - Anti-coalescence 

Policy HWNP4   - Protection and maintenance of Local Green Spaces 

Policy HWNP5   - Greens and verges 

Policy HWNP6   - Retaining and enhancing biodiversity 

Policy HWNP7   - Protection of best and most versatile agricultural land 

Policy HWNP8   - Tourism development 

Policy HWNP9   - Provision of new tourist accommodation 

Policy HWNP10 - Change of use of existing tourist accommodation to permanent residences 

Policy HWNP11 - Provision of new community facilities 

Policy HWNP12 - Parking to serve new development/Houghton and Wyton village 

Policy HWNP13 - Access by non-car modes 

Policy HWNP14 - Flooding and drainage 

Policy HWNP15 - Provision for the needs of new or expanded businesses 

Policy HWNP16 - Windfall residential development 

Policy HWNP17 - Design of new development 

 

 

 

29



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

March 2018 
 

 

1 
 

1 INTRODUCTION 

Background 

1.1 This is the Neighbourhood Plan for Houghton and Wyton Parish (hereafter known as ‘Houghton 

and Wyton’). It is a new type of planning document produced in the Parish. It is part of the 

Government’s new approach to planning, which aims to give local people more say about what 

goes on in their area. This is set out in the Localism Act that came into force in 2011.  

1.2 The Neighbourhood Plan seeks to represent one part of the development plan for the parish over 

the period 2015 to 2036. For clarity, the development plan consists of any planning policies 

currently adopted by the local planning authority, Huntingdonshire District Council, 

Cambridgeshire County Council and this Neighbourhood Plan. 

1.3 The policies in this plan have been produced to be in general conformity with the 

Huntingdonshire Core Strategy 2009. In addition, the plan has given due regard to the emerging 

Huntingdonshire Local Plan which, when adopted, will cover the period to 2036. 

1.4 The Plan therefore provides the local community with a powerful tool to guide the long term 

future of Houghton and Wyton and its surrounding countryside for the period 2015 to 2036. The 

Plan gives all residents ownership of managing what happens in the community.  It is not just 

for the Parish Council but for all.  The Plan contains a vision for the future of Houghton and 

Wyton Parish and sets out clear planning policies to realise this vision.  

1.5 Whilst the Neighbourhood Plan does not allocate specific sites for development the group asked 

for sites to come forward as part of the process and these sites were assessed against the 

objectives and are shown as supporting evidence.  

1.6 In order to develop the Neighbourhood Plan, Houghton and Wyton Parish Council set up a 

Neighbourhood Plan Working Group which comprised six Parish Councillors and a number of 

local volunteers. 

1.7 The Houghton & Wyton Neighbourhood Plan will cover all of Houghton and Wyton Parish. In 

preparing the Plan, there has been dialogue with the adjoining parishes of Hemingford Abbots, 

Hemingford Grey, Godmanchester, Wyton on the Hill and St Ives Town Council as well as with 

Huntingdon District Council. An application for neighbourhood plan designation was approved by 

Huntingdon District Council on 19th December 2012. 

1.8 The map in Figure 1 below shows the boundary of the Neighbourhood Plan area, which is the 

same as the administrative boundary of Houghton and Wyton Parish.  

30



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

2 
 

Figure 1 Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan area  

 

1.9 The principal purpose of the Neighbourhood Plan is to guide development within the parish and 

provide guidance to anyone wishing to submit a planning application for development within the 

parish. The process of producing a plan has sought to involve the community as widely as 

possible and the different topic areas are reflective of matters that are of considerable 

importance to Houghton and Wyton, its residents, businesses and community groups.  

1.10 Some of the Neighbourhood Plan policies are general and apply throughout the Plan area, whilst 

others are site or area-specific and apply only to the appropriate areas illustrated on the relevant 

map. Nevertheless, in considering proposals for development, the Parish and District Council will 

apply all relevant policies of the Plan. It is therefore assumed that the Plan will be read as a 

whole, although some cross-referencing between Plan policies has been provided. 

 

 

How to read this document 

Each section of the plan covers a different topic. Under each heading there is the justification for 

the policies presented which provides the necessary understanding of the policy and what it is 

seeking to achieve. There is also a summary of how each policy contributes towards the 

objectives of the plan. The policies themselves are presented in the blue boxes. It is these 

policies against which planning applications will be assessed. It is advisable that, in order to 

understand the full context for any individual policy, it is read in conjunction with the supporting 

text. 

31



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

3 
 

 

How the Neighbourhood Plan is organised  

1.11 This Plan is divided into thirteen sections:  

 Section 1: Houghton and Wyton Today; a brief description of the Parish today and the key 

issues that have influenced the Plan  

 Section 2: The Vision for Houghton and Wyton over the plan period.    

 Section 3: Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan Objectives; this sets out what 

Houghton and Wyton wants to achieve over the plan period.  

 Sections 4-13: Neighbourhood Plan Policies; which set out policies to support the overall 

vision, and the way in which the objectives will be reached, Policies are arranged in the 

following themes:  

o Village limits/built-up area  

o Natural environment 

o Tourism 

o Community infrastructure 

o Traffic and transport 

o Flood risk and drainage 

o Business 

o Housing 

o Design of new development 

o Monitoring 

 There is also a glossary of relevant terms. 

 Part B - Community Aspirations. This part consists of non-planning issues that the 

community raised as being important. The Parish Council has not ignored these important 

issues, but as this is a statutory planning document it cannot include non-planning issues. 

This section is included in the Neighbourhood Plan to demonstrate to the community that all 

of their concerns have been taken into account and will be addressed by the Parish Council 

outside of the Neighbourhood Plan process. 

 

 

32



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

4 
 

2 LOCAL CONTEXT 

History of Houghton and Wyton 

2.1 Houghton and Wyton lie side by side on the north bank of the River Great Ouse, some two miles 

west of St Ives in Cambridgeshire.  In 1934 the two villages were united to form the civil parish 

of Houghton and Wyton.  The distinctive features that make the village a popular visitor 

destination include Houghton Mill, Houghton Equestrian Centre, Huntingdon Wyevale Garden 

Centre, the river Great Ouse and its flood meadows, plus the range of historic houses and 

cottages.  In this Neighbourhood Plan Houghton and Wyton are referred to as one village. 

2.2 A significant number of prehistoric, Iron Age and Saxon finds have been discovered in the parish 

and there have been a scattering of archaeological finds along Houghton Hill in the east of the 

parish, indicating the presence of people here from very early times, including stone and flint 

tools, a Bronze Age ‘Beaker’ burial and a Romano-British cemetery.  Thicket Lane, joining the 

settlement with St Ives, is recorded in the Historic Environment Record as a monument. It 

appears that Houghton was founded during the 7th century. The name comes from ‘tun’ 

meaning enclosure, farmstead, settlement, village; ‘hoh’ is also old English meaning a heel, or 

projection of land below the crest of a hill.  Together these two words as ‘Hohtun’ describe a 

settlement on a projecting hillside – a description that fits the hillside rather than the riverside 

settlement seen today.  The village is sited around a green, (which is now a tarmac area where 5 

roads converge) which was once larger than it is now.  Wyton, perhaps a century or so later in 

date, grew up west of Houghton along the same road and originally may have been a hamlet, 

which developed into a fully-fledged village later.  The curious network of tracks known as The 

Lanes in Houghton is part of the old network of paths originally leading to open fields and 

meadows. 

2.3 Houghton Mill is one of the last and most complete water mills to survive on the river Great 

Ouse.  There has been a mill on the site since 974, originally belonging to Ramsey Abbey. The 

current mill dates from the 17th century and was extended in the 18th and 19th centuries.  It is 

listed Grade II*. The mill ceased working in 1930 at which stage local people helped to buy it 

and donated it to the National Trust.  It was used by the Youth Hostel Association from 1934 

until 1983. Thereafter it fell into relative disrepair before work commenced in 1998 on a 

complete restoration project to restore the waterwheels and install a turbine. In 2012, a recycled 

pair of millstones was installed, driven by electricity to enable the Mill to operate all year round. 

The National Trust acquired the 19th century mill house in 1983 and developed a tearoom and 

toilets. 

2.4 The Parish Church of St Mary (Listed Grade II) in Houghton, mentioned in the Domesday Book 

(1086), is built in the Perpendicular style, mainly 14th century but with a 13th century chancel 

rebuilt in 1851 and an embattled west tower with a spire containing five bells. The chancel has 

an elegant piscina (double stone basin) and a stone seat in early English style. The pulpit was 

made in 1893 from the wood of a tree from Houghton Hill House. A new stained glass window 

was installed to commemorate the Millennium.  

2.5 The former Parish Church in Wyton, listed Grade I, dates from the early 13th century with a 14th 

century chancel and a 19th century north aisle.  

2.6 The many attractive houses and cottages which border the streets and lanes of Houghton and 

Wyton form one of the distinctive features of the parish. The oldest surviving houses were 

originally yeoman-farmers’ homes and of timber construction. These tend to be situated on the 

33



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

5 
 

principal streets and basically consist of three rooms on the ground floor and three rooms above. 

Another style of housing to be found in the village is that of husbandmen or lesser farmers, 

usually found down back streets and lanes. The village also boasts some remaining examples of 

labourers' cottages. Within the parish there are 57 listed buildings (of which three are Grade 

II*). 

2.7 With the coming of the Enclosures Act in 1773 and new farming techniques, the reliance on 

farming as the major source of employment began to decline and with this many of the older 

houses disappeared or fell into disrepair. 

2.8 However, from about 1840 onwards the villages became very popular, partly due to the river 

Great Ouse and the popularity of holidaying and spending leisure time on the river.  This 

attracted a new style of gentry to the village who built the grand houses of the village, including 

Houghton Hill House, Houghton Grange, The Dingle, The Elms and Houghton Manor. During this 

period many earlier houses were modernized and extended, disguising their origins. 

2.9 Wyton experienced the first post-war expansion when a small group of council houses was built 

at Manor Close in the 1920s. This was followed by the construction in Houghton of Hill Estate 

(1952) and Brookside (1966).  A controversial estate of nearly 50 bungalows was later built at 

Victoria Crescent, gaining contemporary praise for their design.  Between 1975 and 1978 three 

new developments were constructed on the land of Manor Farm in Wyton, these being St 

Margaret’s Road, Loxley Green and Warren Close.    

2.10 The Ministry of Defence sold off housing adjacent to the airfield in 2000, creating a new 

community.  This was followed by the development of Pine Hill Park, consisting of around 50 

park homes located along Sawtry Way.  The village of Houghton and Wyton has expanded 

significantly since the 1950s, but has managed to retain its village character.   

Houghton and Wyton today 

2.11 The Parish of Houghton and Wyton is in a particularly attractive area of the Great Ouse River 

valley with splendid riverside meadows and the rising landscape towards the North providing a 

backdrop to the river views. 

2.12 Located on the western side of East Anglia there is good road access North and South via the A1 

and East and West by the A14. Huntingdon is on the East Coast main railway line with fast 

services to London and the North. The new guided bus has proved successful allowing improved 

access for residents going to Cambridge and tourists from Cambridge visiting the Parish. 

2.13 Local services are provided by Huntingdon (with its local hospital) and St Ives, both within three 

miles. All major services are at Peterborough and Cambridge, twenty miles away, and include the 

University, Addenbrookes and Papworth Hospitals (all world class). 

2.14 On the south side of the A1123 are Daylock Marine Services and Hartford marina, together with 

its restaurant, flats and floating lodges, providing leisure activities on the river, plus holiday and 

permanent accommodation. On the north side of that road is Huntingdon and Wyevale garden 

centre, a shopping destination attracting people from a wide area. Further towards Hartford is a 

commercial fishing lake. 

2.15 On the northern edge of the Parish, along the south side of Sawtry Way, is a commercial area , 

opposite RAF Wyton, providing local employment and opposite Wyton-on-the-Hill is Pine Hill Park 

mobile homes providing low-cost housing for the over 55s, in an attractive hillside setting.  

Closer to St Ives is Houghton Equestrian Centre which is a high quality facility for horse owners 

34



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

6 
 

and visitors and provides local employment. Nearer the village on the eastern side of Mere Way 

is an alpaca farm which may develop as a visitors’ centre.  

2.16 Within the village there are two pubs, three small shops, and a mini-supermarket which houses a 

post office. The village also boasts a successful primary school and St Mary's Church. The river 

provides the southern boundary and there are the navigation lock and the historic flour mill, 

caravan park, car park and tearooms managed by the National Trust which together form a 

major tourist attraction. 

2.17 The Conservation Area boundary was re-drawn in 2012 and covers an area of considerable 

historic, architectural and archaeological interest demonstrating more than a thousand years of 

continuous settlement. 

Figure 2 Houghton and Wyton Conservation Area 

 

 

2.18 The parish is thus an attractive place to live and to visit therefore the neighbourhood plan aims 

to maintain and enhance this situation. Therefore a wide range of topics have been considered in 

producing the Neighbourhood Plan. 

35



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

7 
 

Green spaces 

   

 

2.19 The built-up area of the village has very little land that is not developed. The existing green 

spaces provide recreation opportunities, open vistas and a refuge for wildlife. They form a key 

aspect in the character of the village. 

2.20 In the remainder of the Parish a large proportion of the land is agricultural which creates the 

rural environment in which the village sits. 

2.21 The land that forms the green gaps between the parish and its neighbours are of particular 

importance. 

Tourism 

    

   

2.22 Due to its location, history and character, the parish is a popular destination for quiet tourism 

with an estimated 100,000 visitors per year, many of whom stay in the National Trust caravan 

park or local B&Bs. Visitors can enjoy the River Great Ouse, its lock, meadows and see the flour 

grinding at the historic National Trust Mill. The village centre with its attractive clock tower 

provides shops and a public house for both visitors and residents. 

2.23 Walkers can ramble across the meadows, take the village trail to view a wide range of older 

buildings or walk one of the varied footpaths such as the one which gently climbs up to Wyton 

on the Hill for uninterrupted views across the Ouse Valley. Winding its way through the village, 

the Ouse Valley Way National Footpath provides easy walking access to St Ives, via the 

attractive Thicket Path, or to Godmanchester by the river through fields and past fishing lakes of 

the nature reserve. For those wishing to get on the water, the local boat hire and the marinas 

provide facilities for river craft and anglers, who also enjoy the local fishing lakes. 

2.24 Tourism is thus a major contributor to the local economy supporting employment and business. 

Developments that support tourism are therefore encouraged but only if they do not have a 

negative impact on residents or the character of the area. 

  

36



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

8 
 

Leisure, recreation and community 

2.25 The village is very active and the Parish magazine, delivered 

free to all households, is a great success in keeping everyone 

informed. There are good sports facilities for football, 

numerous cricket teams, tennis, keep fit and bowls on the 

Playing Field plus two play areas for younger children. Also 

located on the playing field are the Pavilion, the Scout Hut and 

Tennis Club hut. The Pavilion and the Memorial Hall provide 

indoor venues for a wide variety of clubs and organisations 

from Pilates to the Gardening Club and cater for all ages from toddlers to the over-sixties. The 

School, St Mary’s Church and the St Mary’s Centre offer further indoor venues.  

2.26 In early December, the Clock Tower, shops and pub are festooned with twinkling lights and a 

large Christmas tree is erected ready for the great ‘switch on’ by Father Christmas.  

 

2.27 Feast Week takes place during the first week in July.  Activities through the week have included 

a bowls match, an angling contest, a duck race, junior tennis, a Quiz night, and a car treasure 

hunt. Something for everyone! 

   

 

2.28 A new mini music festival started in 2013 and due to its success was repeated in 2014 and 

2015.  It is hoped this will continue as a regular event in the future. 

Infrastructure 

2.29 The A1123 is one of the busiest non-arterial roads in Cambridgeshire and divides the village from 

the rest of the Parish to the North.  The community feels access to and from the village is 

arduous at busy times and could be considered dangerous at all times. The lack of pedestrian 

crossings reduces access to the village by other parishioners, limits the use of footpaths to the 

North and is one reason for the lack of stops for the guided bus. However the serious noise 

pollution from the road has recently been reduced by a new quieter surface. 

2.30 Parking in the village is limited, particularly at the beginning and end of the school day, resulting 

in congestion and frustration. The centre of the village is called the ‘Green’ which is the junction 

of five roads and is a through bus route.  It is the heart of the village and its character must be 

preserved according to the Neighbourhood Plan Survey 

2.31 There are no public toilets in the village despite the large number of visitors. 

37



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

9 
 

Business 

  

 

2.32 There are 894 economically active residents (16 to 74 years) in the parish. Of these people, 50% 

are employed and 12% are self-employed. In total, 25% of the population is retired. 1 

2.33 From the recent NP survey there are approximately 300-400 people employed in businesses 

located in the Parish. 

Housing 

 

 

The Parish has the full range of dwelling 

types2:  Accommodation type 

% of Total 

Detached house or bungalow 51 

 

Semi-detached house or bungalow 20 

Terraced house or bungalow 5 

Flat, maisonette or apartment 9 

Caravan, other mobile or temporary 

structure 

15 

81% are owner occupied and the rest rented. 

2.34 There are 826 households in the parish with a population of 1,817 giving an average household 

size of 2.2 persons.  The age profile for the parish shows a low proportion (17%) aged less than 

                                                           
1
 2011 Census 

2
 2011 Census 

38



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

10 
 

20 years compared to the district average of 24%. By contrast, the parish has a high proportion 

of people of retirement age – 26% compared to a district average of 16%3.  

2.35 There is relatively little deprivation in Houghton and Wyton although 17 households reported 

overcrowding and 31 do not have central heating.4 

Areas of distinctive character 

   

 

2.36 The many attractive houses and cottages which border the streets and lanes of Houghton and 

Wyton form one of the distinctive features of the parish. 

 

Quality of life 

 

 

2.37 Residents reported their health as follows (2011 census): 

 Very good = 857 (47%) 

 Good = 646 (36%) 

 Fair = 245 (13.5%) 

 Bad/very bad = 64 (3.5%) 

 

2.38 The parish provides an excellent quality of life and the maintenance of this is a priority for its 

residents. The recently enlarged Conservation Area recognised the importance of the special 

character and history of the village and the residents feel passionate about keeping this together 

with the preservation of the green spaces within the village and maintenance of the existing 

biodiversity within the parish. 

2.39 This quality of life is considered to be under threat from two major and associated issues5: 

                                                           
3
 2011 Census 

4
 2011 Census 

5
 2013 neighbourhood plan Survey 

39



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

11 
 

 The continual growth of traffic on the A1123 and through the village which: 

o increases the delays and dangers of the village access points; 

o forms a barrier to the integration of the Parish to the north of the road with the 

village; 

o  places increased pressure on parking in the village. 

o produces pollution (noise and emissions) 

 Housing developments: 

o on the eastern edge which threaten the Parish’s independence from St Ives;  

o piecemeal building to the west of the village which could result in a continual ribbon 

of development along the A1123 from St Ives to Huntingdon. 

40



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

12 
 

3 VISION AND OBJECTIVES 

Challenges for Houghton and Wyton 

3.1 The Neighbourhood Plan seeks to address, as far as is possible, the challenges that face the 

community of Houghton and Wyton. In summary these challenges are: 

 The need for increased sustainability – in particular, reflecting the global threats of 

dependence on fossil fuels and imports for our basic food supply. 

 Managing the pressure for new development – and ensuring that the village remains 

as a village. 

 Retaining the vibrancy of the retail outlets on offer – particularly by taking advantage 

of opportunities to expand the shopping facilities in the village. 

 Protecting the green spaces in and around the parish – taking the opportunity to 

preserve and enhance green areas within and around the village. 

 Retention of community assets – recognising what these are and ensuring they are 

adequately protected. 

 Improvement of facilities for community groups – and ensuring that facilities continue 

to be maintained to a suitable standard to support a range of community activities. 

 Car parking – addressing problems in the village and the associated effects this has on the 

retail and services offered in the village. 

 Addressing the housing needs of younger and older members of the community – 

by ensuring that housing is developed which can provide flexibly for this range of needs. 

 Providing appropriate employment opportunities – particularly for small rural start-up 

businesses that need appropriate premises on flexible terms. 

 Taking advantage of the tourism assets – but in a way that ensures the additional 

visitors do not have a detrimental impact on the landscape, biodiversity or the quality of life 

of residents. 

 Protecting and enhancing the character – by improving the appearance of the 

conservation area and the setting of listed buildings in Houghton and Wyton. 

Vision for Houghton and Wyton 

3.2 The vision for Houghton and Wyton is as follows: 

 

 We are an active, thriving, dynamic and cohesive community; proud to live in 

this special landscape which we are keen to share with others. 

 

3.3 Our vision is of a parish that continues to be centred on the single village area of Houghton and 

Wyton. It will maintain and develop its character and retain its separate identity and location 

away from other nearby settlements. Our vision is of a village which links with its surrounding 

areas whilst retaining the historic centre as its heart: 

41



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

13 
 

 Links with the rural areas to the north and south and also the vital relationship with the River 

Great Ouse;  

 Links to the east and west, with development at Houghton Grange consolidating its role as 

part of the single village area, reinforced through better physical linkages and an integrated 

community. 

Protecting the landscape 

3.4 In order to achieve the vision, it is necessary to protect our special landscape. As the landscape 

along the Ouse Valley is what makes this such a special place to live and visit, efforts should be 

made to enhance and protect the views, and to improve and extend the existing habitats and 

biodiversity. 

Enhancing quality of life in the community 

3.5 It has been commented upon that the people living in the parish are a ‘dynamic and resourceful 

community’. It is vital that the potential of the existing assets of the parish are maximised to 

further improve the quality of life of the residents.  To this end it is important for residents to be 

connected both physically through public transport links, cycleways, bridleways, footpaths and 

the river as well as electronically through maintaining and improving good broadband 

connections and mobile telephony. The A1123 road, with its issues of traffic volume and safety, 

will continue to be a main focus to improve villager’s quality of life. 

3.6 To develop our community further we are keen to explore opportunities that ensure the 

community grows stronger and more self-sufficient.  For a truly sustainable community we are 

seeking to extend retail opportunities and improved access to public transport.  If the pub and 

village shop were ever sold, the community has stated that it would be prepared to take over 

these vital village assets. We are also keen to maintain and extend the village clubs and societies 

and especially the playing field at the heart of the village, as these organisations and facilities 

form the backbone for the community.  

3.7 At the heart of the village lies the Village Green which is beginning to look tired and does need 

an injection of new life. Car parking in the village is a major issue for residents, shoppers and 

visitors alike, and solutions need to be found which avoid the heart of the village being clogged 

up with parked cars. 

Providing appropriate employment and tourism opportunities 

3.8 Historically, employment in the village would have relied heavily on farming.  When the village 

and surrounding area began attracting artists at the turn of the century, catering for the needs 

of visitors increased in importance.  Our vision is to capitalise on this special place where we live 

and to extend and improve the visitor experience thereby increasing employment in this sector. 

3.9 Currently there are approximately 300–400 people employed in businesses in the parish.  We 

wish to increase this by encouraging the development of rural and craft workshops.   

3.10 It is estimated that there are in excess of 100,000 visitors to the village every year,6 whether 

visiting the Mill, camping, cycling or walking.  We would like to see this increased along a theme 

of ‘quiet tourism’ which could include, for example, expanding camping/tea room facilities, 

extending boat hire and moorings and developing fishing lakes, horse-riding and chalets.   

                                                           
6
 Estimated over 100,000 visitors visit the National Trust Mill Car Park 

42



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

14 
 

Objectives of the Neighbourhood Plan 

3.11 The objectives of the Neighbourhood Plan as identified through engagement with the community 

are as follows: 

Objective HWNP 
policy 

Objective 1: To protect and enhance the green spaces of importance within the parish 

and to resist the loss of the best and most versatile  agricultural land.   

1,2, 3, 4, 

5, 6, 7  

Objective 2: To protect and enhance the views identified in the conservation review 

(2012) that characterise the village. 

1,2,3,4,5, 

6, 7 

Objective 3: To retain the separate identity of Houghton and Wyton as a small rural 
village and avoid any further merging with neighbouring towns and villages. 

1, 3, 7 

Objective 4: To protect and enhance the range and distribution of biodiversity in the 

parish.  

2, 3, 4, 5, 

6, 7 

Objective 5: To promote the growth in appropriate ‘quiet tourism’ (i.e. tourism which 

respects the character of the countryside) in order that the beautiful countryside of the 

River Great Ouse and meadows may be shared with visitors.  

2, 3, 7, 8, 

9, 10, 11, 

13,17 

Objective 6: To expand existing agricultural and rural visitor facilities and attractions 

and develop appropriate new opportunities.  

2, 8, 9, 

10, 11, 

12, 15 

Objective 7: To provide accommodation for arts, crafts and leisure activities to meet 

the needs of the local community and visitors. 

8, 9, 10, 

11, 12,15 

Objective 8: To support the retention of existing local services and businesses in the 
parish and actively encourage the development of new, small-scale businesses which 

benefit the community and visitors. 

8, 10, 11, 
15 

Objective 9: To encourage the appropriate development and diversification of 
agricultural and other land based rural businesses. 

3, 8, 9, 10 

Objective 10: To support small scale housing development schemes that are in 
keeping with the existing character of Houghton and Wyton. 

1, 2, 7, 9, 
12, 13,16, 

17 

Objective 11: To resist the loss of holiday accommodation within the parish to 
permanent residences. 

8, 10 

Objective 12:  To maintain and enhance the distinctive Character Areas of the Parish 

as well as protecting the conservation area and the parish’s historic and listed assets. 

4, 5, 

12,17 

Objective 13: Increase the provision of housing that enables older people to downsize 

to a dwelling size and style appropriate for their changing needs. 

16 

Objective 14: To ensure maximum safety to road and footway users in the parish by 
improving traffic flow, car parking and public transport links. 

12, 13, 
16, 17 

Objective 15: To control infrastructure developments so that the village’s open and 

quiet character and its varied fabric is preserved and improved, while meeting the needs 
of the residents. 

4, 5, 12, 

13, 17 

Objective 16: To steer new development to areas of lower flood risk as far as possible. 1, 4, 9, 

10,11,14, 
15,16,17 

 

43



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

15 
 

4 BUILT UP AREA 

Policy justification 

4.1 The NPPF makes clear distinctions between built up areas and the countryside. To assist with 

interpretation of the neighbourhood plan’s policies, built up areas have therefore been defined 

and mapped; all land outside the defined boundary is deemed to be countryside and subject to 

policies influencing development outside the built up area.  

Figure 3 Houghton and Wyton built up area 

 

Policy 

Policy HWNP1 - Houghton and Wyton built up area 

The built up area boundary for Houghton and Wyton is shown on Figure 3 above. 

A built up area is defined as a distinct group of 30 or more homes and their immediate 

surroundings. 

Other areas outside the built up area are part of the open countryside.   

Proposals for development within the built up area will be guided by the relevant Neighbourhood 

Plan policies and other policies in the development plan. 

Proposals for development outside of the defined built up areas will be acceptable where they 

comply with relevant policies for building in the countryside. 

 

Key: 

1 Core Built up area of the village 

2 Houghton Grange site 

3 Pine Hill Park and Blenheim Court 

 

44



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

16 
 

Objectives addressed by Policy HWNP1 1,2,3,10,16 

 

 

45



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

17 
 

5 NATURAL ENVIRONMENT 

Policy justification 

5.1 The NPPF recognises the local ecological networks and the hierarchy of designated sites.  This 

policy seeks to recognise all the designated areas and welcomes developments that enhance or 

extend ecological corridors connecting them. 

5.2 Within the parish there is a nationally recognised Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) - 

Houghton Meadow - as well as important habitats recognised as County Wildlife Sites (CWS).     

The purpose of these policies is to highlight those sites already designated and to provide a level 

of protection for non-statutory areas such as CWS. It aims to prevent harm through the direct 

and indirect impacts of development.  

5.3 The Lawton Review concluded in 2014 that the protection of wildlife sites in isolation was not 

sufficient to protect England’s biodiversity. The review identified the need for establishing a 

coherent ecological network that is more resilient to current and future pressures, which can be 

achieved by creating bigger wildlife sites of better quality which are better connected.  

Figure 4 Map of SSSIs, CWS 

 

  

46



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

18 
 

Policy  

Policy HWNP2 - Protection of sites  

All new development should protect and, wherever possible, enhance biodiversity and establish, 

enhance or extend ecological corridors and the connectivity between them. 

Development on land within or outside a SSSI likely to have an adverse effect on a SSSI interest, 

either individually or cumulatively, should not normally be permitted.  Where an adverse effect is 

likely, permission should only be granted where the benefits of the development, at this site, 

clearly outweigh both the impacts that it is likely to have on the site’s features and any wider 

impacts on the national network of SSSIs. 

 

Objectives addressed by Policy HWNP2 1, 2, 4, 5, 6, 10 

 

Prevention of coalescence with St Ives   

5.4 Working together with policy HWNP1, this policy seeks to protect the village character and 

distinctiveness by retaining and enhancing a clear and obvious open land gap between the 

village and neighbouring market town of St Ives. 

5.5 Historically the land identified in Development Plan documents separating Houghton & Wyton 

from St.Ives has comprised that land extending east of Houghton Grange and being made up of 

the St.Ives Golf Course, BBSRC Field and Thicket Wood. 

5.6 Previous Inspectors of Development Plan documents have carefully described and defined the 

area in question using various terms such as ‘green gap’, ‘open gap’; ‘separation’ and ‘green 

wedge’. They have valued its importance using comments that it ‘should not be impinged upon’, 

‘not compromised’ and ‘should be protected’, including that it was ‘vital’. 

5.7 The Inspector of the Core Strategy 2009 stated that ‘separation should be retained’ and during 

preparation of the plan, the SHLAA 2009 specifically excluded the BBSRC field from development 

for this reason. 

5.8 Whilst recognising the vital importance of maintaining a gap between village and town, 

subsequent plans have allowed some development of the town westwards and onto the 

northern section of old St.Ives golf course. In so doing this has reduced the area of land capable 

of physically separating the communities. 

5.9 The depletion of historic land area once making up the ‘green gap’ now means that the BBSRC 

field occupies the only undeveloped frontage adjoining the A1123.  It represents the last 

undeveloped and largely open area of agricultural and grassland countryside east of the village, 

as well as running north to south, uninterrupted from the A1123 south to the Thicket. 

5.10 As a consequence the BBSRC field has gained importance in ensuring anti coalescence is 

maintained. 

5.11 Whilst the BBSRC field together with the Thicket wood immediately to the south of it, remains 

the cornerstone of this policy, it should be noted that the surrounding areas of land which knit 

together in a patchwork across Houghton Hill, and continue to include the remaining 

undeveloped southern slopes of the old golf course (although not within the designated area of 

47



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

19 
 

this Neighbourhood Plan) ; the county wildlife site (south of Houghton Grange); as well as the 

albeit secondary, more manicured gardens belonging to the scattering of houses west of 

Houghton Grange; are all now increasingly important in helping to maintain the perception of 

separation. 

5.12 Whilst recognising an increased reliance upon the wider area working together to deliver the 

objective of anti coalescence, the Core Strategy 2009 does not include a specific anti-

coalescence policy which brings these areas together and defines them as a gap. 

5.13 The importance to the community of anti coalescence between Houghton and Wyton the 

western edge of St Ives has historically been very significant. This continues to be the case as 

evidenced through the funding of a court case, a petition of over 700 signatures and many 

letters to the District Council on the subject as well as the Neighbourhood Plan surveys and 

consultations. It is the opinion of the community of Houghton and Wyton that, with the growth 

of neighbouring St Ives, assimilation would not be possible without totally destroying the historic 

character of the parish and the settlements. 

5.14 It is therefore the purpose of HWNP policy 3 to define and protect those areas of land 

responsible for delivering both the actual and perceived anti coalescence of village and town as 

experienced from road, footpaths, meadow or river. 

Policy justification 

5.15 Huntingdonshire is characterised by a variety of individual towns and villages. However, as 

stated in the Local Development Scoping Report 2007 which informed the Core Strategy 2009, 

the extent of urban development over the past 50 years has transformed the appearance of its 

market towns and has also had a major impact on many of the villages.  It went on to say that 

in some cases this has led to the incorporation of previously distinct settlements such as Eaton 

Socon (St.neots) and Hartford (Huntingdon). 

5.16 Houghton and Wyton can contribute to maintaining this rich tapestry by way of ensuring the 

continued separation between the built up area of the village and the town of St Ives. This will 

help to protect the special character of Houghton and Wyton which has a clear and distinct 

identity as a village from that of St Ives as a market town. 

5.17 The landscape of Houghton Hill is valued as a significant and unique topographical feature in the 

area forming a key element in long distance views across the Ouse Valley and contributing to 

the setting of both Houghton and Wyton and St Ives. 

5.18 Historically Houghton Hill House and Houghton Grange stood in extensive grounds somewhat 

detached from the eastern end of Houghton. Housebuilding since the 1950s has extended the 

village eastwards such that Houghton Hill House is now connected to the eastern end of the 

defined built up area. Houghton Hill house has an entrance from the A1123 with a section of 

landscaped garden with ornamental tree cover fronting the road and helping to partially conceal 

the house. 

5.19 Next to this is Houghton Grange which has been identified as an allocated development site 

within the Core Strategy.  This site is detached from the core village and when developed will be 

large enough to create its own built up area. The woodland belt surrounding the site on three 

sides to the south, east and west, does screen views of the site. This is particularly important on 

the eastern flank and to the south where it links to Houghton Meadow county wildlife site and 

leads down to countryside footpaths. 

48



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

20 
 

5.20 On the northern edge of the site,  two large listed gate houses front onto the road on either side 

of a long wide entrance. A water tower is also situated on the north-eastern corner next to the 

A1123 and both form landmarks when travelling along this road. 

5.21 To the north of the A1123 recent development in St Ives has extended westwards such that it 

now directly abuts the extensive open farmland rising to the north of Houghton Grange; 

however, this land lies within the parish of Wyton on the Hill and is outside the scope of this 

neighbourhood plan. 

5.22 Westward of Houghton Grange, a scattering of individual properties and gardens create a 

patchwork and populate the ridge and lower slopes before connecting with the built up area of 

the core village. 

5.23 The eastern edge is separated from St Ives by a more open and larger tract of land, known as 

the BBSRC Field. It is the only significant natural grassland area left between the village and the 

town.  It is also the last remaining area of open frontage along the A1123 affording glimpses of 

long distance views from the road. Taken together with the Thicket wood it is the only area of 

land which runs uninterrupted by housing north to south from the road to the valley floor. It 

does contain two small groups derelict buildings on its western edge, formerly used in 

association with Houghton Grange as a poultry research station. One of these groups is 

attached to the south western corner of Houghton Grange and has been included within the 

built up area specified in Policy HNWP1. Once again this is heavily screened from the southern 

approaches by mature trees. 

5.24 The District’s historical Development Planning documentation stretching back over 20 years has 

consistently recognised the BBSRC field and Thicket wood as being at the heart of providing the 

important and substantial separation of Houghton & Wyton from St.Ives. 

5.25 In the development of the Core Strategy 2009 the BBSRC Field is expressly treated by the 

source material for Policy CS2 of the Core Strategy as being unsuitable for residential 

development, precisely because of its importance in forming the landscape gap between St Ives 

and Houghton. 

5.26 Further support for the above interpretation comes from the Core Strategy’s express saving of 

Policies EN 15 and EN17 of the 1995 Local Plan. 

5.27 With the granting of planning permission and current building programme for the old St.Ives 

golf course, the remaining land i.e. the BBSRC field and Thicket wood, has become significantly 

more important to maintain separation. However, it is also much more apparent that in order to 

maintain a meaningful perception of separation, both visually and physically, this now has to 

work in conjunction with other areas of undeveloped and unallocated land lying between the 

two settlements. 

5.28 This policy recognises this need, ensuring that coalescence with St Ives is prevented and  the 

special character of Houghton and Wyton is therefore retained. In doing so it puts the BBSRC 

field and Thicket wood at the heart of that area essential to ensuring anti coalescence, together 

with the surrounding area of the County wildlife site (south of Houghton Grange) and the 

gardens west of Houghton Grange (but excluding the built up areas defined in HWNP1). 

5.29 The aim of preventing the coalescence of St Ives and Houghton and Wyton has, however, to be 

balanced against the fact that Policy CS2 of the Core Strategy allocates about 400 houses to a 

significant greenfield development to the west of the town. Planning permission has been 

granted for some of these houses a number of which have been built. Decisions as to where the 

remainder of these houses will be located will be made in the emerging Local Plan. 

49



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

21 
 

 

Policy 

Policy HWNP3 – Anti -coalescence 

Development proposals should respect the individual and distinct identities of the village of 

Houghton and Wyton and the town of St Ives.   Development will not be permitted if, individually 

or cumulatively, it would result in the loss of the visual and physical separation between these 

two settlements, or would lead to their coalescence. 

 

Objectives addressed by Policy HWNP3 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 9,  

 

Local Green Spaces 

5.30 As part of the Neighbourhood Plan process, the community was asked to consider if there were 

any important green open spaces of value in the Parish. The Neighbourhood Plan seeks to 

protect this site.  

Policy justification 

5.31 Under the NPPF, Neighbourhood Plans have the opportunity to designate Local Green Spaces 

which are of particular importance to them. This will afford protection from development other 

than in very special circumstances. Paragraph 77 of the NPPF says that Local Green Spaces 

should only be designated: 

 “where the green space is in reasonably close proximity to the 

community it serves; 

 where the green area is demonstrably special to a local community and 

holds a particular local significance, for example because of its beauty, 

historic significance, recreational value (including as a playing field), 

tranquillity or richness of its wildlife; and 

 where the green area concerned is local in character and is not an 

extensive tract of land.” 

5.32 Whilst the village has seen some development during the second half of the twentieth century, it 

retains a number of green spaces that contribute to its character and provide opportunities for 

informal and formal recreation. This policy wishes to see the most important of these spaces 

protected for future generations.  

50



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

22 
 

Figure 6 Map of Local Green Space  

 

 

 Houghton and Wyton Playing Field - because of its recreation value. Lying in the heart of 

the village with boundaries abutting Victoria Crescent, St Ives Road and the A1123 provides a 
place for both formal and informal recreation. The field was given in trust to the village and is 

currently part owned by the Parish Council, which purchased their share in 1962, and the 
Eastgate Trust. The Playing Field is home to the village football, cricket teams, the village 

bowls, tennis and ‘keep-fit’. The Pavilion and Scout Hut sits on the field, providing a venue for 

all scouts and guides as well as being available for hire. The field also hosts significant events 
within the village calendar – Feast week and music festival as well as many other one offs 

and charity fundraising events. It is a meeting place, dog walking and social recreation place 
for the village.  There is a car park for users of the playing field.  

            

  

51



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

23 
 

Policy 

Policy HWNP4 - Protection and maintenance of Local Green Space 

In recognition of the value to the local community , the following area is designated as Local 

Green Space and will be protected from development other than in very special circumstances: 

 Houghton and Wyton Playing Field  

This Local Green Space is shown on the map in Figure 6. 

 

 

Objectives addressed by Policy HWNP4 1, 2, 4, 12, 15, 16 

 

Verges and Greens 

Policy justification 

5.33 The verges and greens are important because they contribute towards the village’s character 

and distinctiveness. They also perform a biodiversity function, being a place where various 

species thrive. It is therefore important that the most significant of these greens and verges are 

protected. The verges and greens identified for special protection are identified in Appendix 2.  

5.34 The verges and greens will need to be subject to a separate management plan, to be drawn up 

by the Parish Council in partnership with the relevant authority. 

 

Policy HWNP5 – Greens and verges 

The green areas and verges identified in the appendix are valued for their biodiversity and 

contribution to the village’s character and distinctiveness.  Development that protects and 

enhances the openness and biodiversity of these areas will be supported.  Development that 

would detract from the special characteristics or biodiversity of these areas will be resisted.  

 

 

Objectives addressed by Policy HWNP5 1, 2, 4, 12, 15 

 

Biodiversity 

5.35 Houghton and Wyton contain a large area of floodplain meadows, some of which is designated 

but the majority of which is impoverished from a biodiversity perspective. There has been a 

significant loss of species-richness in the riverside meadows.  A key objective for the Ouse Valley 

area of greenspace enhancement is the restoration of species rich floodplain meadows.   

52



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

24 
 

5.36 The aim of this policy is to:  

 protect the existing biodiversity assets of the parish; 

 enhance the number and range of species, especially those species on Biodiversity Action 

Plan (BAP) lists; 

 create new woodland; 

 improve wildlife corridors to create better connectivity 

 manage hedgerows appropriately; and 

 work with farmers to minimise the damage to biodiversity through their actions. 

Policy justification 

5.37 Paragraph 109 of the NPPF states that “the planning system should minimise impacts on 

biodiversity…by establishing coherent ecological networks that are more resilient to current and 

future pressures.” 

5.38 It goes on to state at paragraph 117 that, “to minimise impacts on biodiversity and geodiversity, 

planning policies should promote the preservation, restoration and re-creation of priority 

habitats, ecological networks and the protection and recovery of priority species populations.” 

5.39 The Huntingdonshire Core Strategy recognises the importance of biodiversity and in particular 

the sensitive nature of the Great Ouse Valley. Policy CS9 which seeks to create new green 

infrastructure specifically identifies the need for coordinated action to create new wildlife habitats 

to increase biodiversity. 

5.40 The lowland hay meadows are characterised by species rich swards including, great burnet, 

meadowsweet, meadow buttercup, yellow rattle and lady’s bedstraw and at Houghton Meadow, 

down the Thicket, it is recorded that the scarce green winged orchid is present. The great 

crested newt has been recorded at Houghton Hill. 

5.41 The banks of the river and its backwaters are characterised by willows and avenues of black 

poplar hybrids. 

5.42 The river Great Ouse is important for eels, spined loach, tommy ruffe, lampreys and otter. Many 

dragonfly and damselfly species are also present.   

5.43 The sound of skylarks, warblers and nightingales are to be heard in spring and summer and 

migrating geese are to be seen and heard in Autumn. 

 

Policy 

Policy HWNP6 – Retaining and enhancing biodiversity  

Development is expected to protect and enhance biodiversity assets including species rich 

meadows, the River Great Ouse and areas of semi-natural habitat associated with the river.  If 

significant harm resulting from a development cannot be avoided, adequately mitigated or, as a 

last resort, compensated for, permission will be refused. 

53



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

25 
 

Development is expected to protected and enhance biodiversity assets including 

species-rich -with the river.  If significant harm resulting from a mitigated or, as a 

last resort, compensated for,  

Objectives addressed by Policy HWNP6 1, 2, 4 

 

Protection of agricultural and grazing land 

Policy Justification 

5.44 The history of the parish is intertwined with farming and with cattle grazing before going to 

market at St Ives. Indeed the Splash on the A1123 was the watering stop for cattle travelling to 

market.  With the loss of all the farms within the settlement has come the loss of grazing and 

agricultural land. 

5.45 Figure 7 shows the agricultural classification of land in the parish. This shows that there is a 

significant amount which is classed as Grade 2 (very good) with a proportion that is also grade 3 

(good to moderate).  

Figure 7 Agricultural Land Classification   

  

  

54



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

26 
 

5.46 Paragraph 112 of the NPPF states: 

"Local planning authorities should take into account the economic and other 

benefits of the best and most versatile agricultural land. Where significant 

development of agricultural land is demonstrated to be necessary, local 

planning authorities should seek to use areas of poorer quality land in 

preference to that of a higher quality." 

5.47 Existing landowners who graze within the parish have highlighted the lack of grazing 

opportunities for farming their alpacas, cattle and goats. Policy HWNP7 therefore seeks to ensure 

that Grade 1, 2 and 3a agricultural land can only be brought forward for development if it can be 

demonstrated that it has not recently been in agricultural use and has little prospect of being 

brought back into productive use in the near future. The land must not have been farmed for at 

least two years, a period intended to ensure that speculative applications for development of 

high quality agricultural land are avoided, whilst at the same time still providing an opportunity 

for agricultural land that clearly has no prospect of re-use to come forward and address any 

additional needs over the short term (i.e. the next five years). 

 

Policy 

Policy HWNP7 – Protection of best and most versatile agricultural land 

Development of best and most versatile agricultural land (as defined in the NPPF) will normally 

be resisted unless it can be demonstrated that significant development of agricultural land is 

necessary and no other land of a poorer agricultural quality is available. 

 

 

Objectives addressed by Policy HWNP7 1, 2, 3, 4, 5,10 

 

55



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

27 
 

6 TOURISM 

Tourism development 

Policy justification 

6.1 One of the key themes in the NPPF is supporting a prosperous rural economy. Within this it 

recognises the importance of tourism as part of that. Paragraph 28 states that neighbourhood 

plans should:  

“…support sustainable rural tourism and leisure developments that benefit 

businesses in rural areas, communities and visitors, and which respect the 

character of the countryside. This should include supporting the provision 

and expansion of tourist and visitor facilities in appropriate locations where 

identified needs are not met by existing facilities in rural service centres.” 

6.2 Visitors to Houghton and Wyton are attracted to the National Trust Mill, Houghton Equestrain 

Centre, Huntingdon Wyevale Garden Centre, the River Great Ouse, and for the many walks and 

cycleways around the countryside and village. This tourism is one which respects the sensitive 

nature of the environment, in particular the species-rich meadows and the landscape stretching 

along the Ouse Valley.   

6.3 Such ‘quiet tourism’ should be welcomed, recognising the economic benefits it brings to the local 

and wider community. The mantra of quiet tourism is, ‘take only photographs, leave only 

footprints’.   

6.4 Examples of the types of tourism which are acceptable include:    

 Foot/cycle paths where they improve access to the parish, are safe and as long as no 

deterioration is caused to the environment. 

 Mooring or marine establishments on the waterways which conform to the environmental 

criteria identified elsewhere in the Neighbourhood Plan.  

 Activities which do not cause harm to the network of protected habitats and landscapes.  

6.5 The following indicates examples where changes to the tourism enhancement would not be 

acceptable because they would not accord with the principles of quiet tourism:  

 Trail/dirt bike tracks 

 Large, regular music festivals. 

 River racing using high volume motor boats, river water skiing and wake-boarding. 

 Unauthorised camping/trailer sites.  

6.6 Temporary activities may be considered appropriate but the location where the activities occur 

should be left in a condition as was originally seen and the natural habitat should in no way be 

affected by pollution or excessive noise. 

6.7 The purpose of these policies is to attract day and residential visitors so that they can experience 

the beauty of the landscape, the agriculture, rural activities and attractions which help the parish 

develop economically through the creation of jobs and visitor spend. This must be balanced with 

the need to ensure that tourism development is appropriate and does not have a detrimental 

impact on the quality of life of the community. 

 

 

56



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

28 
 

Policy HWNP8 – Tourism development  

The development and expansion of tourism facilities, attractions and activities connected with 

day and residential visitors will be supported where the following criteria can be met: 

 there are demonstrable economic and social benefits of the proposals; and 

 there are no significant detrimental impacts on the existing community, and  

 any impacts on the natural environment are capable of being adequately mitigated. 

 

Objectives addressed by Policy HWNP8  5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 11 

 

Provision of new tourist accommodation 

Policy justification 

6.8 If the tourist economy is to grow, then it is important that tourist accommodation should also be 

allowed to grow in Houghton and Wyton as well. However, such accommodation should be in 

keeping with the ‘quiet tourism’ offer of the wider area. Large scale tourist accommodation, 

mainly in the form of large hotels, is not considered appropriate because of the impacts that 

such large numbers of additional residential visitors are likely to have on local residents. In 

particular this relates to the additional levels of traffic that will be created on the local road 

network. 

6.9 Again, the policies in the Huntingdonshire emerging Local Plan pertaining to the impact of 

development in the countryside should apply where relevant. 

Policy 

Policy HWNP9 – Provision of new tourist accommodation 

Proposals for new tourist accommodation will be supported where it can be 

demonstrated that the following criteria can be met: 

• The impact on the existing road network would be acceptable; 

• Pedestrian and cycle access to services in the village is provided wherever 

possible and ideally via footpaths and cycle routes; and 

• There would be no adverse impact on the character or appearance of the 

Conservation Area or the setting of any listed building in the Parish or the 

countryside 

 

Objectives addressed by Policy HWNP9  5, 6, 7, 9, 10, 16 

 

57



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

29 
 

Change of use of tourist accommodation 

Policy justification 

6.10 There is a concern, based on several recent planning applications and permissions in the parish, 

that holiday accommodation is being changed into permanent residential dwellings. This has two 

impacts – firstly, it reduces the stock of holiday accommodation, thereby reducing the 

attractiveness of the local area for overnight visitors; and secondly, it increases the resident 

population of the parish, with the associated increased burden on services, in a piecemeal 

fashion. 

6.11 It is appreciated that if holiday accommodation is no longer a viable business, then it may be 

appropriate to consider it for alternative uses. However, it is appropriate that any applicant for 

such change of use should have to demonstrate that the business is no longer viable. This 

should be done by providing substantial evidence to prove that the business is not viable as 

tourist or visitor accommodation. it is felt that 18 months is a reasonable time frame as this 

represents two trading seasons 

Policy  

Policy HWNP10 - Change of use of existing tourist accommodation to permanent 

residences 

The change of use of existing tourist accommodation to permanent dwellings  will only be 

permitted when it can be reasonably demonstrated that tourist accommodation is no longer 

viable. Evidence may include details of the business case and marketing of the property as a 

going concern at a market price over a period of months normally taken to be representative of 

two trading seasons. 

 

 

Objectives addressed by Policy HWNP10 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 11,16 

 

 

  

58



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

30 
 

7 COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE 

7.1 The intention of the policy in this section of the Neighbourhood Plan are to ensure that there is 

maintenance  and further development, when required of enough locations and places to meet 

the recreational, educational, social and cultural needs of the residents of the parish. 

Provision of new community facilities 

Policy justification 

7.2 A limited range of community facilities has been identified as being needed by the community at 

this present time. However, it is recognised that, over the plan period, it is likely that new or 

larger facilities will be needed. Also, existing facilities will need replacing once their ongoing 

maintenance is no longer financially viable.  

7.3 Therefore, this policy seeks to provide general support for the provision of such community 

facilities, as opposed to identifying a finite list or specific locations for the provision of such 

facilities. It is recognised that the funding of such facilities is constrained and that the limited 

amount of residential development in the parish means that developer contributions will also be 

limited. Therefore, it will be important that the local community uses its resources to lever in 

funds through grants and other means in order to fund the bulk of the cost of any new facility. It 

is therefore important, where appropriate, that the planning process does not provide costly and 

unnecessary delays in their subsequent provision. 

7.4 Where appropriate, the use of private facilities to address the needs of the community and 

general public will be supported.  In particular this could include the provision of public 

conveniences to serve the village. 

7.5 Other specifically identified items are a guided bus-stop and allotments.  Preferred sites have yet 

to be identified. 

Policy 

Policy HWNP11 – Provision of new community facilities 

The provision of new community facilities to address the identified needs of the residents of the 

parish will be supported. These needs could relate to new recreation, leisure, spiritual, social, 

education and medical facilities. 

 

 

Objectives addressed by Policy HWNP11 5, 6, 7, 8, 16 

59



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

March 2018 
 

 

31 
 

8 TRAFFIC & TRANSPORT 

Parking 

Policy justification 

8.1 There are high levels of car ownership locally – 1.56 cars per household in the parish of 

Houghton and Wyton as compared to 1.47 cars per household in Huntingdonshire district and 

1.33 cars per household across the East of England region7. This partly reflects the rural location 

of the neighbourhood plan area but also the limited public transport that is available. The 

principle bus service (the 1A/1B) operates between one and two services an hour to and from 

Cambridge and Huntingdon but does not operate in the evenings.  Given that there is not 

expected to be any increase in bus provision to serve Houghton and Wyton then the propensity 

to increase bus patronage is expected to be very limited. Therefore new development will bring 

significant numbers of additional cars that will have to find places to park. 

 

8.2 In addition, new tourist development will bring more cars into the parish. It is important that a 

balance is struck between the benefits that this brings in terms of income from tourism, and the 

loss of amenity for local residents and businesses. 

Parking in the village centre 

 

 

8.3 It is important that new development adequately provides for the parking needs arising from it. 

In particular, development close to the centre of the village – along with additional tourist visits - 

is likely to create significant levels of on-street parking unless appropriate off-road solutions are 

provided. 

 

                                                           
7
 Source:  2011 Census 

60



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

32 
 

Policy 

Policy HWNP12 – Parking to serve new development/Houghton and Wyton village 

Any proposals to provide additional public car parking to serve the village of Houghton and 

Wyton will be supported in principle. 

 

Objectives addressed by Policy HWNP12 6, 7, 10, 14, 15 

 

Access by non-car modes 

Policy justification 

8.4 The community considers that the network of footpaths and cycle paths across the parish is a 

valuable asset. It wishes to expand this network, both for use by residents and by the tourists 

that are attracted to the area.  

8.5 It is vital that, where possible, foot and cycle paths are provided that link to the centre of the 

village. This is where the majority of services are provided and the extra footfall, that these links 

will create, will serve to increase the viability of the shops and services in the centre of the 

village, whilst at the same time not worsening the problems with traffic and parking there.  For 

example: 

 From the equestrian centre on Sawtry Way to the cemetery 

 From Meadow Lane opposite the cemetery  to the back brook  

 From Houghton Grange to the Thicket which leads to the village centre 

 From the Thicket (opposite the Elms) to the meadows and camp site 

 From Meadow Lane going east along the old railway line towards Houghton Grange 

8.6 In addition, access to bus services is important to ensure that those without access to a car (in 

2011, 9% of the households in the parish did not have access to a car8). Therefore it should be 

easy to access bus stops on foot from new developments that are creating additional 

movements. 

8.7 Where there is currently a lack of provision of a good footpath and/or cycle path to the village 

centre and/or a bus stop within a reasonable distance, new developments which are creating 

additional movements must seek to address this by providing new access paths. Only where it is 

physically not possible or demonstrably unviable to make such provision will the policy not apply. 

  

                                                           
8
 Source: 2011 Census 

61



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

33 
 

Policy 

Policy HWNP13 – Access by non-car modes 

Any development within the parish which creates additional movements will have to demonstrate 

that there is good access to the village centre on foot or by bicycle and/or that there is good 

access to an operational bus route. Where such access is lacking and there is a deliverable 

solution, new provision must be made towards addressing this.  

 

Objectives addressed by Policy HWNP13 5, 10, 15,  

62



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

34 
 

9 FLOOD RISK AND DRAINAGE  

Policy justification 

9.1 The parish is situated in a river valley with a river that regularly floods and is protected by a 

flood bank. The longer the river remains flooded the more surface water run-off accumulates in 

the ditches and the brook, and the risk of flooding increases until the river cannot remove the 

excess water. The longer the flood plain is covered in water the more opportunity there is of 

water leakage through the flood protection bank. Water can then flood roads, gardens, houses 

and parts of the sewerage system. 

9.2 In the locality a further threat comes from leakage from the existing sewer system and the 

ongoing silting up of the River Ouse. 

9.3 In the winter of 2012/13, the village came very close to major flooding problems, with Thicket 

Road impassable to motor vehicles on several occasions. The Parish Council also received several 

reports from residents that their houses were on the verge of flooding and that power had been 

lost, even with sandbags having been deployed. 

9.4 The 2011 Great Ouse Catchment Flood Management Plan, produced by the Environment Agency, 

identified the parish as being in a flood risk area where the risks are currently deemed to be 

appropriately-managed, but where the risk of flooding is expected to rise significantly in the 

future. The number of properties at risk from flooding in the Houghton/Hemingford/St Ives area 

could rise fourfold over the next century as existing flood defences are over-topped. Moreover, 

this assumes that there is no new development, yet within this area there are significant levels of 

new development already planned. 

9.5 The NPPF states at paragraph 100 that, “Inappropriate development in areas at risk of flooding 

should be avoided by directing development away from areas at highest risk.” 

9.6 It is therefore considered prudent that, until new flood defences are put in place, a robust 

approach is adopted to new development, and developers must demonstrate that it will not 

cause problems with flooding and drainage.  

9.7 It should also be recognised that flooding problems do not only come from surface water 

flooding but also from groundwater flooding. These issues in aggregate can serve to create the 

problems that have been experienced in recent years. Planning applications should therefore 

consider both issues jointly. If this serves to create an unacceptable cumulative impact, then an 

application should be refused.  

9.8  Adequate surface water management is crucial to help Houghton and Wyton adapt to, and 

mitigate for, climate change. The National SuDS (Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems) 

Standards and Building Regulations Part H set out a clear hierarchy for surface water 

management and it is important that new developments manage surface water through SuDS 

rather than connecting into the public system 

 

63



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

March 2018 
 

 

35 
 

Policy   

Policy HWNP14 - Flooding and drainage 

Development will only be permitted in areas benefitting from defences where the sequential and 

exception tests are passed and residual risk of flooding has been considered and it can be 

demonstrated that the development will be safe. 

Any development that which would reduce the flood plain storage capacity of a site will not be 

permitted unless an alternative storage facility is provided to compensate within the site on a 

level-for-level and volume-for-volume basis. Reference should be made to the SFRA maps which 

define the extent of the functional flood plain and any such facilities should be approved by the 

Environment Agency or other appropriate body. 

Replacement dwellings and buildings will only be permitted in areas at risk of flooding if it can be 

demonstrated that they will be substantially safer and will reduce flood risk, taking into account 

the effects of climate change. 

All developments will be expected to demonstrate that they have followed the surface water 

management hierarchy to ensure that infiltration and other methods of surface water disposal 

are considered and provided for ahead of maintaining any connection to surface water sewers. 

Such developments must demonstrate that, where possible, they have reinstated natural 

drainage flow pathways. 

Any development increasing the demand on the drainage systems is required to provide written 

confirmation from the appropriate sewerage provider that sufficient infrastructure capacity 

exists, or that any required increase in sewerage capacity is completed prior to occupation of any 

part of the development. 

Mitigation must be undertaken for all planning permissions for any cumulative impact of surface 

water and groundwater flooding that would be created by development.  

 

 

Objectives addressed by Policy HWNP14 16 

 

64



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

36 
 

10 BUSINESS 

Providing for the needs of new and existing businesses 

Policy justification 

10.1 One of the key themes in the NPPF is supporting a prosperous rural economy. Paragraph 28 

states: 

“Planning policies should support economic growth in rural areas in order to 

create jobs and prosperity by taking a positive approach to sustainable new 

development. To promote a strong rural economy, local and neighbourhood 

plans should: 

 support the sustainable growth and expansion of all types of business 

and enterprise in rural areas, both through conversion of existing 

buildings and well designed new buildings; 

 promote the development and diversification of agricultural and other 

land-based rural businesses; 

 support sustainable rural tourism and leisure developments that benefit 

businesses in rural areas, communities and visitors, and which respect 

the character of the countryside. This should include supporting the 

provision and expansion of tourist and visitor facilities in appropriate 

locations where identified needs are not met by existing facilities in 

rural service centres;  

 promote the retention and development of local services and 

community facilities in villages, such as local shops, meeting places, 

sports venues, cultural buildings, public houses and places of worship.” 

10.2 There are over 33 businesses within the parish which does not include those working as sole 

traders. Over the plan period, it is considered vital to support local services and businesses in 

order that they may create employment opportunities for residents and local people.  

10.3 In particular in a rural location, it is considered most appropriate to encourage small scale 

businesses which encourage and promote tourism and rural enterprise generally and/or benefit 

the local community. Many of these businesses will be start-ups and for these people, having 

access to low cost premises on flexible rents is of paramount importance. The provision of such 

flexible space within the parish will therefore be welcomed. 

10.4 Another feature of the local economy is the enduring, but adapting, agricultural base. Whilst 

relatively small, it does provide local employment and makes effective use of the land. It is also 

adapting to new trends with the opening up of farm shops, for example. Such enterprises should 

be encouraged rather than stifled. 

10.5 Support will therefore be given to proposals which demonstrate an active approach to providing 

sustainable commercial activity within the context of a rural parish.  

10.6 The one caveat is the concern over sprawling development along the main routes that surround 

the built up area of the parish – namely the A1123, A141 and B1090 routes. Along these routes 

65



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

37 
 

there are more restrictions on new businesses, as these are not considered to represent the 

most appropriate locations for such development.  

Policy 

Policy HWNP15 – Provision for the needs of new or expanded businesses 

Proposals for new or expanding businesses will be supported provided they are appropriate to 

their rural setting and respect the character of the village,  the countryside and wider landscape 

including views in and out of the area.  Any such use will need to ensure that its impact on light, 

noise and air is acceptable.   

Proposals that provide suitable space for start-up or incubator businesses develop the Parish’s 

agricultural base or increase retail space in the village centre are particularly encouraged.  

The loss of existing retail or other community services and facilities will be resisted unless 

alternative or enhanced provision is made elsewhere in suitable and accessible locations in the 

parish or it can be demonstrated that the use is no longer viable.  

New development along the A1123, A141 or B1090 should seek to retain existing trees, hedges 

and ditches wherever possible to protect the rural setting. 

Any new development should not increase flood risk.  Planning applications for development 

within the Plan area must be accompanied by a site-specific flood risk assessment in line with 

the requirements of national policy and advice, but may also be required on a site by site basis 

based on locally available evidence. 

 

 

Objectives addressed by Policy HWNP15 6, 7, 8, 16 

66



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

March 2018 
 

 

38 
 

11 HOUSING  

Small-scale residential development 

Policy justification 

11.1 In 2011 there were 826 dwellings in the parish of Houghton and Wyton. The large majority are 

located in the village whilst the remainder are spread around the parish – mainly at Hartford 

Marina in the west and the Pine Hill Park development along Sawtry Way. 

11.2 Like many old villages, development initially occurred slowly over many centuries and resulted in 

a stock of very individualistic housing. More recent developments over the last 40 years have 

tended to be medium scale and of a more similar type. However, the parish remains rural in 

nature and housing at the edges blends well into the countryside which completely surrounds it 

and provides the important separation, distinct from neighbouring settlements. 

11.3 Protecting the separate identity of Houghton & Wyton is a key objective of the Neighbourhood 

Plan, and retention of this surrounding countryside is crucial to retaining the distinctiveness of 

the village. Policy HWNP1 seeks to focus development within the built up area boundary, as 

defined in Figure 3 - development in open countryside should not be permitted if it would have 

the effect of reducing the separate identity of Houghton and Wyton. In addition, the policies in 

the Huntingdonshire emerging Local Plan pertaining to the impact of development in the 

countryside will apply to restrict any such development. 

11.4 Looking over the plan period to 2036, the Neighbourhood Plan Survey 2013 demonstrated broad 

satisfaction with the mix of houses currently available, reflecting the broad range of 

accommodation that residents enjoy across the parish. This ranges from some permanent 

residency house boats and park homes, which offer low entry price into the area, through 

apartments to large detached properties. 

11.5 The demographics of the village reflect those of Huntingdonshire generally with the largest 

proportion of the population being of retirement age. There is no significant growth- other than 

via tourism and through development of the Houghton Grange site in the east- envisaged in the 

local population and very low levels of net migration are expected (based on this limited growth 

and the popularity of the parish with those already living there). However, the Neighbourhood 

Plan Survey did highlight that over time there will be a gradual shift towards needing a greater 

proportion of accommodation for single and dual occupancy (77% respondents agreed) as well 

as dwellings specifically designed for the needs of older people (80% agreed). Residents want to 

be able to downsize as they get older but not be forced to move out of the village. Having a 

stock of smaller properties for downsizing also means that these older people will be more willing 

to move and release their larger properties back to the housing stock in order that they become 

family homes again. 

11.6 Within this, there is also a need to provide affordable housing to address local needs. The 

neighbourhood plan area has a very low proportion of social rented properties – only 3% - yet 

for many people currently living in Houghton and Wyton, the price of properties on the open 

market is prohibitively high. In particular, some young families that have grown up in the village 

as well as older residents looking to downsize wish to stay living locally but cannot afford to do 

so. It is important that the provision of new dwellings reflects the needs of these people as well.  

 

67



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

39 
 

11.7 This is supported by the Cambridge Sub-Region Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA)9 

which identified that one-person and couple households will make up the majority of the 

household increase from 2011 to 2031. In fact, they will represent 96% of the household change 

over that period.  

11.8 Development through small-scale, incremental growth enables better preservation of the general 

housing mix and harmony with the existing character of the local setting and buildings. It is 

essential that the supply of any new homes is realised in accordance with the distinctive 

features, scale and grain of the local area. Housing sites must be carefully considered and will 

only be acceptable where they reflect these principles and are consistent with the neighbourhood 

Plan taken as a whole 

11.9 The Huntingdonshire Core Strategy provides the spatial strategy for housing development across 

the District at present. However, the emerging Local Plan will supersede it and this identifies land 

at St Ives West for a mixed use allocation), including the land at Houghton Grange. This is the 

only site allocated or proposed for allocation within the parish. 

11.10 Whilst the Neighbourhood Plan does not allocate sites for development, it is expected that there 

will be windfall sites that come forward over the plan period. It is important that they are of a 

suitable scale to be in keeping with the parish and the village (90% of respondents from the NP 

survey agreed with small scale developments) Given the restriction on development outside the 

built up area boundary, most of these small scale windfalls are expected to come forward within 

the village. 

11.11 Development proposals that address the needs of the local population will be supported. In 

particular, this is housing that is suitable for the needs of older people but would also provide 

opportunities for first-time buyers. Specifically this will be:  

 two-bed and also one-bed properties  

 housing for older people. 

11.12 In order to provide flexibility, it is considered that self-build development should also be 

encouraged. 

Policy 

Policy HWNP16 – Windfall residential development  

Residential development on windfall sites in the in the village that meets local needs will be 

supported.  In particular, the provision of one or two bedroom units and housing that meets the 

needs of older people is particularly encouraged.  Self build units will be supported on 

appropriate sites. 

 

Residential development on windfall sites in the built up area of the village that meets local needs 

will  

Objectives addressed by Policy HWNP16 10, 13, 14, 16 

 

                                                           
9
 Cambridgeshire Insight (2013) Cambridge Sub-Region Strategic Housing Market Assessment, for 

Cambridgeshire authorities 

68



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

40 
 

12 DESIGN OF NEW DEVELOPMENT 

Policy justification 

12.1 Paragraph 58 of the NPPF states that: 

“…neighbourhood plans should develop robust and comprehensive policies 

that set out the quality of development that will be expected for the area. 

Such policies should be based on stated objectives for the future of the area 

and an understanding and evaluation of its defining characteristics. Planning 

policies and decisions should aim to ensure that developments: 

 will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for 

the short term but over the lifetime of the development; 

 establish a strong sense of place, using streetscapes and buildings to 

create attractive and comfortable places to live, work and visit; 

 optimise the potential of the site to accommodate development, create 

and sustain an appropriate mix of uses (including incorporation of green 

and other public space as part of developments) and support local 

facilities and transport networks; 

 respond to local character and history, and reflect the identity of local 

surroundings and materials, while not preventing or discouraging 

appropriate innovation; 

 create safe and accessible environments where crime and disorder, and 

the fear of crime, do not undermine quality of life or community 

cohesion;  

 are visually attractive as a result of good architecture and appropriate 

landscaping.” 

12.2 The Huntingdonshire emerging Local Plan also recognises the importance of design quality based 

on a thorough understanding of a site and its context In particular, the Neighbourhood Plan 

considers the most important aspects to be: 

 solutions which reflect their surroundings; 

 proposals must contribute positively to the local character, appearance, form and pattern of 

development through sensitive siting, scale, massing, form and arrangement of new 

development and use of colour and materials; 

 proposals should respect and respond appropriately to the distinctive qualities of the 

surrounding landscape, and avoid the introduction of incongruous and intrusive elements 

into views. 

12.3 The community has identified design quality as an important issue in order to preserve the 

character of the village in particular and the parish in general.  

69



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

41 
 

Character Areas 

12.4 A key consideration within the Neighbourhood Plan is to understand how certain areas define the 

character and feel of that community, and then identify where they are in order to make sure 

their importance is properly considered when making decisions on future developments. 

12.5 The parish is characterised by its varied architectural styles, building density and layout, its road 

and footpath networks and its geographical setting. Together these elements confirm the 

village's identity as a small rural settlement.   

12.6 The Neighbourhood Plan Survey recorded the importance that the community places on 

maintaining and protecting this small and rural character, both now and in the future. 

12.7 Such areas of 'distinctive character' have been identified. It is important to note that the 

transitional areas between the distinctive areas are also important to the village scene where the 

same criteria should be applied, with reference to the relevant adjacent Character Area. 

12.8 Key defining elements are identified under two headings - those which are common throughout 

the village and those which are specific to a particular road or street or part of the village. 

12.9 The common distinctive character elements are: 

 The lanes, footpaths and roads at the limit of the village, which have natural and largely 

untrimmed hedgerows. 

 The height and variety of the historic roof lines and separation between buildings and their 

interconnecting views. 

 Grass verges are regularly used to define the extent of the road, particularly in the older 

parts of the village. 

 The many and varied old and mature trees within the built environment. There are examples 

of such trees in both the older and more recently built areas of the village. 

 The pavements on one side of the road only. 

 The low density and period reproduction street lighting only extending as far as the last of 

the built envelope. 

 The limited use of white or yellow lines.  

 The low density use of road and street signs. 

 The use of cinder or gravel surfacing to footpaths. 

 The extent of natural and uninterrupted river frontage within the village boundary. 

 The generally low density of telegraph wires, satellite dishes, aerials or solar panels on the 

roof lines of buildings. 

12.10 The Character Areas are shown in Appendix 1. Where Policy HWNP17 refers to these Character 

Areas, it is expected that development should have due regard to the guidance provided in 

Appendix 1 for the respective Character Area. This applies to the Character Area that the 

development is in and also to any Character Area where development that is adjacent to it will 

have an impact upon it.  

  

70



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

42 
 

Policy 

Policy HWNP17 - Design of new development   

New development will be supported where it can demonstrate that the following criteria are all 

met:- 

• It respects the character or appearance of the village and its heritage assets including the 

Conservation Area and the setting of the Great Ouse Valley 

• It responds positively to the heritage and distinctive features of any Character Area in which 

it is situated and pays particular attention to the site’s topography and height, scale, spacing, 

layout, orientation and materials 

• It is of a high quality design and, where appropriate, is of a distinctive and individual 

character 

• It retains and incorporates, where possible, existing natural features such as trees, 

hedgerows and ponds 

• It takes any opportunity available to provide safe, accessible and well connected footpath and 

cycle routes to the village centre, and  

• Where the development is located at the edge of the settlement it takes account of, and 

respects the character of adjacent countryside by providing landscaping and  / or developing at a 

lower height as appropriate to reflect its fringe location 

t village and its heritage assets including the Conservation Area and the setting of the Great Ouse 

Valley.  

Objectives addressed by Policy HWNP17 5, 10, 12, 14, 15, 16 

71



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

43 
 

13 MONITORING  

13.1 To ensure that the Neighbourhood Plan, in its entirety, strives to deliver an improving quality of 

life for people in the parish, it is important that its progress is measured against an appropriate 

index. 

13.2 The central theme of the Neighbourhood Plan is about improving quality of life. Therefore, it is 

appropriate that the index of monitoring targets is closely related to quality of life indices. This 

will be developed by Houghton and Wyton Parish Council in conjunction with the local 

community. 

13.3 The monitoring of this index will be undertaken through a questionnaire survey, distributed to 

every person on the electoral roll. This will be undertaken at least every five years and the 

results shared and used to influence Parish Council decisions. 

13.4 The process of producing the Neighbourhood Plan has identified a number of important actions 

which have not been included in the main body of the Plan. This is because these are not 

specifically related to land use matters and therefore sit outside the jurisdiction of a 

Neighbourhood Plan. However, this is not to say that these actions are not important and they 

are contained in appendix 3 under Community Action Plan and will be reviewed regularly by the 

Parish Council. 

 

72



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

44 
 

GLOSSARY 

 Affordable housing - Social rented, affordable rented and intermediate housing, provided 

to eligible households whose needs are not met by the market 

 

 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) – a fixed, non-negotiable contribution that must 

be made by new development. It is chargeable on each net additional square metre of 

development built and is set by the Huntingdonshire District Council. 

 

 Core Strategy – the planning policy document adopted by Huntingdonshire District Council 

in 2009, covering Houghton and Wyton parish. This addresses strategic planning matters and 

the Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan, as required by the National Planning Policy 

Framework, must be in general conformity with the adopted Core Strategy. 

 

 Emerging Huntingdonshire Local Plan – the document which, when adopted, will 

supersede the current Core Strategy. This Local Plan is addressing planning matters up to 

2036 and includes strategic allocations which impact on Houghton and Wyton. 

 

 Intermediate tenure housing - Homes for sale and rent provided at a cost above social 

rent, but below market levels subject to the criteria in the Affordable Housing definition 

above. These can include shared equity (shared ownership and equity loans), other low cost 

homes for sale and intermediate rent, but not affordable rented housing. 

 

 Lifetime Homes - dwellings that incorporate 16 design criteria which can be universally 

applied to new homes at minimal cost. Each design feature adds to the comfort and 

convenience of the home and supports the changing needs of individuals and families at 

different stages of life. In particular, it ensures that many disabled or older people are able to 

live within their own home as opposed to a care setting. 

 

 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) – the national planning policy document 

which sets out the Government’s planning policies for England and how these are expected to 

be applied. 

 

 Quiet Tourism – tourism which respects the character of the countryside 

 

 Social rented housing - Housing owned by local authorities and private registered 

providers for which guideline target rents are determined through the national rent regime. 

 

 Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) – an evidence base exercise 

undertaken by all local authorities to determine the amount of land that has theoretical 

potential for housing development. All sites put forward are considered for their availability, 

suitability and deliverability for housing. If a site addresses all of these requirements then it is 

considered to have theoretical potential for housing development; however this does not 

mean that the site will be brought forward for development or that a planning application will 

be granted planning permission. All sites for consideration are collated through a ‘Call for 

Sites’ exercise which invites anyone to put forward land for consideration through the SHLAA 

process. 

73



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

March 2018 
 

 

i 
 

Appendix 1 Character Areas 

Figure 7 Character Areas 

Neighbourhood Plan Working Group 

The Wyton end access road from the A1123

Character Areas:

Manor Close

Rectory Lane Church Walk Ware Lane

 

Neighbourhood Plan Working Group 

Victoria Crescent

Character Areas:

Green Lane Laughtons Lane

Thicket Road

 

74



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

ii 
 

Neighbourhood Plan Working Group 

The village centre

Character Areas:

Mill Street and Chapel Lane

The Lanes 

 

Neighbourhood Plan Working Group 

Love Lane

Home Farm Road

Character Areas:

Hill Estate

 

 

 

The Wyton end access road from the A1123 

 As the Huntingdon Road leaves the A1123 there are a limited number of low rise houses on the 

left which gives an open character to the village approach. 

 There is scope to open up, and protect, the historic sheep splash on the left hand side, as a 

further character enhancing feature. 

75



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

iii 
 

 There is also scope to define the rural feel of the village by softening the hard tarmac traffic 

prioritising entrance and exit to the village using more rural junction design incorporating rustic 
fencing, signage and grass verges and clear options for cyclists and pedestrians. 

  

  
 

Manor Close 

 The wide entrance road, with green verges on either side leads to a small estate of semi-

detached houses built in the early 1920s. 

 Each of the symmetrical pairs of houses have retained their rendered and painted exterior  

 All have relatively large front and rear gardens separated by low level hedging, and each has off 
street parking provided by a wide driveway between each pair of houses. 

 The estate provides an important size of housing in the overall mix of accommodation available in 

the village. 

 This small estate represents an intact representation of a former council house design with 

generous plots sizes compared to houses being built today, with each house retaining its original 
appearance, finish and character. 

 

 
 

Rectory Lane 

 A rural no through road with grass verges and lined with mature trees with access to the Grade 1 

listed Church of All Saints Wyton. 

 Church Walk, an ancient connecting footpath between Rectory Lane and Huntingdon Road. 

 There is a mix of older and modern low density housing with associated low levels of traffic which 

is in balance with the rural nature of the road.   
 

     

76



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

iv 
 

 

Church Walk 

 Church Walk is a regularly used historic footpath leading from Huntingdon Road, initially between 

old houses, down to the RAF cemetery and Wyton Church.  
 There is limited vehicle access along a gravelled first section for residents of the houses on either 

side. The surface then becomes a natural rural footpath between old walls and established 

vegetation on either side as it reaches the church.  

 

                       
 

Ware Lane 

 The ancient trackway is one of the original thoroughfares in the village of Wyton and part of the 

old main road between Huntingdon and St Ives. It has wide grass verges backed by ditches and 

hedges on both sides without any road markings and, due to the development of the A1123 past 
the village, is now a no-through road to vehicles, but still allows cyclists and pedestrians to leave 

the village towards the north. 

 Ware Lane starts at Huntingdon Road. On the left is situated Loxley Green and the modern 

development of three-storey townhouses, with the 18th century manor farmhouse in the north-
west corner. On the right are the modern Old Manor Farm flats. 

 Housing development in the lane took place in the early 1970s and on the right hand side there 

are bungalows, and then dormer bungalows. On the left hand side there are two pairs of 
detached houses, all characterised by long front gardens and drives which bridge the ditches.   

    

       
 

Victoria Crescent 

 The houses on Victoria Crescent represent a unique architectural style in the village. 

 Designed by Sir Colin St-John Wilson (architect of the British Library) who wanted to offer his 

own ‘inside out’ design style in a village environment, laid out in a closed crescent, built in the 
1960s. 

 Their collective character is of common single storey timber cladding over white exterior walls.  

 The single road entry into and out of the crescent creates a private feel as well as preventing 

through traffic access. 

77



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

v 
 

 The building density coupled with the single storey construction has created an open feel to the 

estate, added to by the open and unfenced front gardens and wide road with verges. 
   

 
 

Green Lane 

 A no through lane, without pavements narrowing to a rural footpath beyond the school, offering 

important access to the school and the playing field. 

 Unspoilt and open views from the lane across the playing field to the tree lined river bank 

beyond.  
 

 
 

Laughtons Lane 

 This is a private unmade road with limited vehicle access for residents.  

 Laughtons Lane also provides a well-used pedestrian connection between the centre of the village 

and the playing field. 

 
 

The village centre 

 The centre represents an historic and important hub to the web of five roads into and out of the 

village. 
 There is an important balance of village history and functionality represented by the clock tower, 

the Three Horseshoes pub, the old George and Dragon pub, the shop, the Potto Brown statue 

78



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

vi 
 

and plinth, the listed telephone kiosk and water pump, the period garden wall at Whympers, 
which frames one side of the square. 

 The seating outside the Three Horseshoes adds to the village centre street scene and acts an 

acceptable traffic calming measure 

 There are important vistas from the centre. The church and its spire, the old and mature trees 

and the listed buildings around the centre.  
 The absence of road markings, designated parking areas or the use of urban style signs. 

 The limited use of shop signs, advertising signs or posters. 

 

    
 

Mill Street and Chapel Lane 

 Both are relatively narrow but have an open character helped by no on-street parking. 

 Both have limited access with no through traffic use. 

 Both have important historic buildings relevant to the village’s history. The architectural styles are 

rich and variable including thatched roofs and those buildings with historical relevance, such as 

School House. 
 The roof lines are varied with spaces between sufficient to provide interconnecting views to other 

parts of the village including to the Mill and the church. 

 Mill Street in particular has a single pavement which changes to characterful cobbles in front of 

the row of thatched cottages.  

 Signage and the entrance to the Mill are unobtrusive and don’t dominate the immediate 

surroundings. 

   

 

Thicket Road 

 One of the longest and oldest access routes to and from the village, The Thicket has a wide and 

varied mix of old and listed properties. 
 There is a single footpath on the right hand side at the more populated end, which becomes a 

grass verge away from the village centre. 

 Grass verges without kerb stones define the extent of the road. 

 The pavement runs out at the village limit, and becomes the Thicket Path after the White Bridge 

 Along its length there is low density reproduction period lighting provided to the end of the run of 

houses. 

79



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

vii 
 

 There is no through route for traffic via Meadow Lane (except for emergency vehicles) with 

priority given to pedestrians, horse-riders and cyclists using the Thicket for access to St Ives.   
 There is limited street signage, or lines controlling parking, maintaining the rural character of the 

road. 

 There are many old and mature trees along the length of The Thicket, and in the gardens of the 

larger houses.  A low natural hedge and open metal railings afford views of the formal Elms 

gardens. 
 Beyond the Elms, there are a small number of houses on the left hand side which all stand well 

back from the road. This, coupled with the lack of the houses on the right, and the open views 

across the fields to the river, all add to the rural character of this part of the village. 

 

  
 

The Lanes and Love Lane 

 These interconnecting Lanes represent historic cart tracks and footpaths offering routes between 

the village, the river and the Mill. 

 Today The Lanes and Love Lane represent a well-used and popular network of unspoilt, natural 

rural footpaths with minimal street lighting, crisscrossing the village, as they have since the 
village was established.  

            
 

Home Farm Road (excluding the three-dwelling development on the corner of St Ives Road built 

later) 

 Home Farm Road represents a style of estate development of its time when it was built between 

1968 and 1970. 
 Houses are set well back from the road with large front gardens and relatively wide pavements. 

 The frontages are laid to a variety of lawns or planted gardens but the overall feel is of open 

space, without the interruption of high dividing hedges or fences.  

 The access roads comprise long sweeping curves which add to the feeling of space and widen the 

general panoramic views across the estate. 

 Mature trees have been retained, which together with the green open spaces, adds a softening 

and pleasing character to the harder lines of the houses. 
 The houses have been built with off road garages and parking which beneficially minimises any 

on road parking. 

80



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

viii 
 

 

         
  

Hill Estate 

 Built between 1947 and 1952, Hill Estate is a strong example of post war council built housing 

and layout. 

 The red brick semi-detached houses are built on spacious plots with large front gardens. 

 The houses face inwards towards the open well-kept green area with mature trees bringing an 

identity to the estate as a whole.   
 The one way circulatory road is respected and contributes to free flow of traffic to and from the 

estate. 

 There is a locally agreed stipulation that prevents on the verge parking. The estate has retained a 

period block of garages for use by estate residents. 

      
 

  

81



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

ix 
 

Appendix 2 – Greens & verges 
 

 Ware Lane verge by the side of Loxley Green - is to be managed for wildflowers which 

attract pollinators. 

 

 

 

 The verges down the Thicket and in front of the Manor, The Gardens and Rose Cottage – 

whilst this might seem unnoticed, they are very much appreciated by residents and visitors as 

a contribution to village’s open space character. 

               

82



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

x 
 

 
 Wildflower garden off Victoria Crescent - cleared of rubbish and planted in the mid-1990s, it 

is important to maintain this area for wildlife. 

 

 

83



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

xi 
 

 The green spaces in St Margaret's Road and Home Farm Road - the green areas amidst the 

housing developments provide a breathing space and a place for trees to develop for all to 

enjoy. 

 

  

 

 

84



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

xii 
 

 The Green at Hill Estate has provided informal recreation for both children and adults since 

the estate was built in 1952. The open space provides a green oasis for trees to develop and 

has been enjoyed in what would be an enclosed housing area. 

      

 

 The Green at Loxley Green (between Huntingdon Road and Ware Lane) When the main farm 

in the parish, Manor Farm sold land and outbuildings to make way for the mixed housing in 

Loxley Green between 1975 and 1978, the Green was part of the old track to the farmhouse 

and maintains some fine old trees. It is used for informal play and street parties today. 

       

85



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

xiii 
 

 

 The Green in Warren Close is a small development of alternatively designed housing built 

between 1975 and 1978.  The central green was once a pond and still retains the original 

willow trees that used to surround the pond. The pond was thought to be the remnants of a 

moat which once encircled an earlier house. 

            

86



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

xiv 
 

 

 Thicket Footpath – from the bridge at Thicket Road/Meadow Lane crossroads, down to 

Portabello Wood, the verge on the right hand side. This footpath is an ancient footpath said 

to have been used by Oliver Cromwell on his journey between home and school.  The verge 

all along the right hand side provides a wild beauty and gives the path a very rural feel. 

           

 

87



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

xv 
 

 The field on the corner of Thicket Road and Meadow Lane demonstrates ridge and furrow 

and provides the transition from the built environment to the open countryside and provides 

a sense of tranquillity towards the edge of the village. 

           

 

88



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

xvi 
 

 The National Trust car park and camp site is located at the end of Mill Street. Near the Mill is 

the car park and camp site, which lies on the backwater of the River Great Ouse. The camp 

site has been present since the sixties, initially targeted at anglers but then recognising the 

attraction for families and children to be able to play in the open fields. Under new 

ownership in the 1980s, a designated car park was established on the ridge and furrow field.  

Over 200 trees were planted in the 1980s which now provide a tranquil backdrop to the Mill 

as well as creating habitat for the associated wildlife. The car park and camp site were taken 

into the National Trust ownership in 1998. This now provides a valuable parking space for 

visitors to the village.  

              

 

89



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

xvii 
 

 The triangle at the crossroads of Huntingdon Road and A1123 is known locally as The 

Splash. Historically this green space has been used for agricultural purposes. It now 

provides an important visual amenity for the village entrance with its copse of trees.  It is 

planned to be a community space which will include the planting of fruit trees to make a 

community orchard. The original Splash pond is important in managing the potential flood 

risk from the ditch nearby. 

       

 

 Splash Lane - the verge on the left hand side as you travel up Splash Lane from the A1123 

must be sensitively managed and will be planted with trees and shrubs to screen the 

housing as you approach the village from the west. The verge further up on the right-hand 

side is also important and needs to be managed as it is on the edge of the countryside and 

should the rural part of the village. 

                               

90



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

xviii 
 

 

91



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

xix 
 

 Rectory Lane - in front of the old church (grade 1 listed) there is already the cover for a 

septic tank however the space needs sensitive management to ensure it remains a tree-

inspired green space. 

       

 

 Brookside- the triangle in front of the bungalows provides an important vista for the 

bungalows and to ensure it does not become a car park. 

                       

92



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

xx 
 

 

 Corner of Leslie Green Road and Meadow Lane the verge from Brookside up Leslie Green 

Road on the right-hand side is important for the trees, shrub cover and needs to be 

managed for wildlife. 

       

 

93



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

xxi 
 

 In front of Manor Close the two areas of green space either side of Manor Close entrance 

provide a green space to allow trees and bulbs to grow. 

        

 

  

94



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

xxii 
 

Appendix 3 – Community Action plan 

 The following list of actions have arisen out of the Neighbourhood Plan preparation process: 

 

Action Lead body Timescale 

Time Bank  Houghton & Wyton Parish 

Council 

Short - Medium 

Bus Stops Houghton & Wyton Parish 

Council 

Medium 

Review access across the 

A1123 

Houghton & Wyton Parish 

Council 

Medium 

Review pedestrian access from 
Houghton Hill across the Back 

Brook towards home Farm 
Road 

Parish Council and residents medium 

To monitor ongoing usage and 

requirement of community 

buildings 

 Houghton & Wyton Parish 

Council 

Medium 

The verges and greens will 

need to be subject to a 
separate management plan 

with relevant 

authority/landowner 

Houghton and Wyton Parish 

Council 

Short- medium 

 

  

95



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

xxiii 
 

 

Appendix 4   Listed buildings 

96



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

xxiv 
 

 1, the Green 
Grade II* 
Huntingdon Road, Houghton, Cambridgeshire 

 1,2 and 3, Chapel Lane 
Grade II 
1 Chapel Lane, Houghton, Cambridgeshire 

 3, the Lanes 
Grade II 
The Lanes, Houghton, Cambridgeshire 

 Allanby Cottage 
Grade II 
Thicket Road, Houghton, Cambridgeshire 

 Beth Haccerem Dolly Peg Cottages Thatched Cottages 
Grade II 
Mill Street, Houghton, Cambridgeshire 

 Beth-haccerem 5 
Grade DL 
9 Mill Street, Houghton, Cambridgeshire 

 Black Horse Cottage 
Grade II 
Huntingdon Road, Houghton, Cambridgeshire 

 Buckley House Thrae 
Grade II 
Thicket Road, Houghton, Cambridgeshire 

 Church of All Saints 
Grade I 
5 Rectory Lane, Houghton, Cambridgeshire 

 Dovecote Magdalene House 
Grade II 
9 Huntingdon Road, Houghton, Cambridgeshire 

 Durley Cottage 
Grade II 
Rectory Lane, Houghton, Cambridgeshire 

 East Lodge to Houghton Poultry Research Station West Lodge to Houghton Poultry 
Research Station 
Grade II 
Houghton Road, Houghton, Cambridgeshire 

 Elder Cottage 
Grade II 
St Ives Road, Houghton, Cambridgeshire 

 Fernleigh Small House 
Grade II 
Huntingdon Road, Houghton, Cambridgeshire 

 Glebe Cottage 
Grade II 
9 Mill Street, Houghton, Cambridgeshire 

97

http://www.britishlistedbuildings.co.uk/en-54074-1-the-green-houghton-and-wyton-cambridges
http://www.britishlistedbuildings.co.uk/en-54068-1-2-and-3-chapel-lane-houghton-and-wyton-
http://www.britishlistedbuildings.co.uk/en-54099-3-the-lanes-houghton-and-wyton-cambridges
http://www.britishlistedbuildings.co.uk/en-54123-allanby-cottage-houghton-and-wyton-cambri
http://www.britishlistedbuildings.co.uk/en-443321-beth-haccerem-dolly-peg-cottages-thatche
http://www.britishlistedbuildings.co.uk/en-54101-beth-haccerem-5-houghton-and-wyton
http://www.britishlistedbuildings.co.uk/en-54094-black-horse-cottage-houghton-and-wyton-ca
http://www.britishlistedbuildings.co.uk/en-54121-buckley-house-thrae-houghton-and-wyton-ca
http://www.britishlistedbuildings.co.uk/en-54072-church-of-all-saints-houghton-and-wyton-c
http://www.britishlistedbuildings.co.uk/en-54091-dovecote-magdalene-house-houghton-and-wyt
http://www.britishlistedbuildings.co.uk/en-54107-durley-cottage-houghton-and-wyton-cambrid
http://www.britishlistedbuildings.co.uk/en-54082-east-lodge-to-houghton-poultry-research-s
http://www.britishlistedbuildings.co.uk/en-54082-east-lodge-to-houghton-poultry-research-s
http://www.britishlistedbuildings.co.uk/en-54112-elder-cottage-houghton-and-wyton-cambridg
http://www.britishlistedbuildings.co.uk/en-54086-fernleigh-small-house-houghton-and-wyton-
http://www.britishlistedbuildings.co.uk/en-54104-glebe-cottage-houghton-and-wyton-cambridg


  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

xxv 
 

 Holme Cottage 
Grade II 
Huntingdon Road, Houghton, Cambridgeshire 

 Houghton Bury 
Grade II 
Thicket Road, Houghton, Cambridgeshire 

 Houghton Hill House 
Grade II 
Houghton Hill Road, Houghton, Cambridgeshire 

 Houghton Mill 
Grade II* 
Mill Street, Houghton, Cambridgeshire 

 Houghton Poultry Research Station 
Grade II 
Houghton, Cambridgeshire 

 K6 Telephone Kiosk by Clock Tower 
Grade II 
Huntingdon Road, Houghton, Cambridgeshire 

 Ladymeere 
Grade II 
Houghton Hill Road, Houghton, Cambridgeshire 

 Little Dormers 
Grade II 
Houghton and Wyton 

 Manor Farmhouse 
Grade II* 
St Ives Road, Houghton, Cambridgeshire 

 Manor Farmhouse 
Grade II 
Loxley Green, Houghton, Cambridgeshire 

 May Cottage 
Grade II 
4 St Ives Road, Houghton, Cambridgeshire 

 Memorial Shelter and Clock Tower 
Grade II 
Huntingdon Road, Houghton, Cambridgeshire 

 Mill House 
Grade II 
Houghton Hill Road, Houghton, Cambridgeshire 

 Millers Meade 
Grade II 
Houghton and Wyton 

 Monument to Potto Brown 
Grade II 
Mill Street, Houghton, Cambridgeshire 

98

http://www.britishlistedbuildings.co.uk/en-54097-holme-cottage-houghton-and-wyton-cambridg
http://www.britishlistedbuildings.co.uk/en-54081-houghton-bury-houghton-and-wyton-cambridg
http://www.britishlistedbuildings.co.uk/en-54085-houghton-hill-house-houghton-and-wyton-ca
http://www.britishlistedbuildings.co.uk/en-54103-houghton-mill-houghton-and-wyton-cambridg
http://www.britishlistedbuildings.co.uk/en-54083-houghton-poultry-research-station-houghto
http://www.britishlistedbuildings.co.uk/en-54261-k6-telephone-kiosk-by-clock-tower-houghto
http://www.britishlistedbuildings.co.uk/en-54115-ladymeere-houghton-and-wyton-cambridgeshi
http://www.britishlistedbuildings.co.uk/en-54113-little-dormers-houghton-and-wyton-cambrid
http://www.britishlistedbuildings.co.uk/en-54116-manor-farmhouse-houghton-and-wyton-cambri
http://www.britishlistedbuildings.co.uk/en-54100-manor-farmhouse-houghton-and-wyton-cambri
http://www.britishlistedbuildings.co.uk/en-54111-may-cottage-houghton-and-wyton-cambridges
http://www.britishlistedbuildings.co.uk/en-54078-memorial-shelter-and-clock-tower-houghton
http://www.britishlistedbuildings.co.uk/en-54084-mill-house-houghton-and-wyton-cambridgesh
http://www.britishlistedbuildings.co.uk/en-54118-millers-meade-houghton-and-wyton-cambridg
http://www.britishlistedbuildings.co.uk/en-54076-monument-to-potto-brown-houghton-and-wyto


  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

xxvi 
 

 Parish Church of St Mary 
Grade II 
9 Mill Street, Houghton, Cambridgeshire 

 Provender House Scrivener's Foodstore 
Grade II 
1 Chapel Lane, Houghton, Cambridgeshire 

 Riverside 
Grade II 
9 Mill Street, Houghton, Cambridgeshire 

 Rose Cottage 
Grade II 
Thicket Road, Houghton, Cambridgeshire 

 Schae 
Grade II 
5 Rectory Lane, Houghton, Cambridgeshire 

 Silver Birches 
Grade II 
St Ives Road, Houghton, Cambridgeshire 

 Soma House Wayside 
Grade II 
Huntingdon Road, Houghton, Cambridgeshire 

 Stuart Cottage 
Grade II 
9 Huntingdon Road, Houghton, Cambridgeshire 

 Stuart House 
Grade II 
1 St Margarets Road, Houghton, Cambridgeshire 

 Sweet Briar 
Grade II 
Thicket Road, Houghton, Cambridgeshire 

 Thatched Barn at Rectory Farm 
Grade II 
Huntingdon Road, Houghton, Cambridgeshire 

 Thatched White Cottage 
Grade II 
Green Lane, Houghton, Cambridgeshire 

 The Barn 
Grade II 
Rectory Lane, Houghton, Cambridgeshire 

 The Cedars 
Grade II 
Thicket Road, Houghton, Cambridgeshire 

 The Elms 
Grade II 
Houghton Hill Road, Houghton, Cambridgeshire 

99

http://www.britishlistedbuildings.co.uk/en-54105-parish-church-of-st-mary-houghton-and-wyt
http://www.britishlistedbuildings.co.uk/en-54073-provender-house-scrivener-s-foodstore-hou
http://www.britishlistedbuildings.co.uk/en-54102-riverside-houghton-and-wyton-cambridgeshi
http://www.britishlistedbuildings.co.uk/en-54119-rose-cottage-houghton-and-wyton-cambridge
http://www.britishlistedbuildings.co.uk/en-54071-schae-houghton-and-wyton-cambridgeshire
http://www.britishlistedbuildings.co.uk/en-54110-silver-birches-houghton-and-wyton-cambrid
http://www.britishlistedbuildings.co.uk/en-54089-soma-house-wayside-houghton-and-wyton-cam
http://www.britishlistedbuildings.co.uk/en-54092-stuart-cottage-houghton-and-wyton-cambrid
http://www.britishlistedbuildings.co.uk/en-54093-stuart-house-houghton-and-wyton-cambridge
http://www.britishlistedbuildings.co.uk/en-54117-sweet-briar-houghton-and-wyton-cambridges
http://www.britishlistedbuildings.co.uk/en-54095-thatched-barn-at-rectory-farm-houghton-an
http://www.britishlistedbuildings.co.uk/en-54079-thatched-white-cottage-houghton-and-wyton
http://www.britishlistedbuildings.co.uk/en-54106-the-barn-houghton-and-wyton-cambridgeshir
http://www.britishlistedbuildings.co.uk/en-54124-the-cedars-houghton-and-wyton-cambridgesh
http://www.britishlistedbuildings.co.uk/en-54120-the-elms-houghton-and-wyton-cambridgeshir


  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

xxvii 
 

 The Homestead 
Grade II 
Green Lane, Houghton, Cambridgeshire 

 The Lindens 
Grade II 
Chapel Lane, Houghton, Cambridgeshire 

 The Manor 
Grade II 
Thicket Road, Houghton, Cambridgeshire 

 The Old Rectory 
Grade II 
Mere Way, Houghton, Cambridgeshire 

 The Old Rectory 
Grade II 
6 Rectory Lane, Houghton, Cambridgeshire 

 Three Horse Shoes Public House 
Grade II 
2 Thicket Road, Houghton, Cambridgeshire 

 Three Jolly Butchers Public House 
Grade II 
Huntingdon Road, Houghton, Cambridgeshire 

 Tun Cottage 
Grade II 
The Lanes, Houghton, Cambridgeshire 

 United Reform Chapel 
Grade II 
Chapel Lane, Houghton, Cambridgeshire 

 Village Pump 
Grade II 
1 Mill Street, Houghton, Cambridgeshire 

 Walden House 
Grade II 
Laughton's Lane, Houghton, Cambridgeshire 

 West End Cottage 
Grade II 
Huntingdon Road, Houghton, Cambridgeshire 

 White Cottage 
Grade II 
Huntingdon Road, Houghton, Cambridgeshire 

  

100

http://www.britishlistedbuildings.co.uk/en-54080-the-homestead-houghton-and-wyton-cambridg
http://www.britishlistedbuildings.co.uk/en-54070-the-lindens-houghton-and-wyton-cambridges
http://www.britishlistedbuildings.co.uk/en-54122-the-manor-houghton-and-wyton-cambridgeshi
http://www.britishlistedbuildings.co.uk/en-54114-the-old-rectory-houghton-and-wyton-cambri
http://www.britishlistedbuildings.co.uk/en-54108-the-old-rectory-houghton-and-wyton-cambri
http://www.britishlistedbuildings.co.uk/en-54075-three-horse-shoes-public-house-houghton-a
http://www.britishlistedbuildings.co.uk/en-54090-three-jolly-butchers-public-house-houghto
http://www.britishlistedbuildings.co.uk/en-54098-tun-cottage-houghton-and-wyton-cambridges
http://www.britishlistedbuildings.co.uk/en-54069-united-reform-chapel-houghton-and-wyton-c
http://www.britishlistedbuildings.co.uk/en-54077-village-pump-houghton-and-wyton-cambridge
http://www.britishlistedbuildings.co.uk/en-54096-walden-house-houghton-and-wyton-cambridge
http://www.britishlistedbuildings.co.uk/en-54088-west-end-cottage-houghton-and-wyton-cambr
http://www.britishlistedbuildings.co.uk/en-54087-white-cottage-houghton-and-wyton-cambridg


  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

xxviii 
 

PART B - COMMUNITY ASPIRATIONS 

Non-planning issues  

(This does not form part of the statutory development plan – it contains community 

aspirations and Parish Council ambitions that cannot be included in policies in the 

Neighbourhood Plan)  

Community Right to Bid 

The Community Right to Bid (Assets of Community Value in legislation) is one of a number of new 

rights introduced in the Localism Act 2011. 

The Community Right to Bid allows communities and parish councils to nominate buildings or land for 

listing by Huntingdonshire District Council as an asset of community value. An asset can be listed if its 

principal use furthers (or has recently furthered) their community's social well-being or social interests 

(which include cultural, sporting or recreational interests) and is likely to do so in the future.  

When an owner of an asset that is on the list of assets of community value wishes to sell building or 

land, a moratorium on the sale (of up to six months) may be invoked, providing local community 

groups with a chance to raise finance, develop a business plan and make a bid to buy the asset on 

the open market.  

Houghton and Wyton has currently listed the following: 

 The Three Horseshoes Inn, The Green, Houghton 

 The Green, Hill Estate, Houghton 

 The Green, Loxley Green, Wyton 

 Ye Olde Village Shop 

 

The Neighbourhood Plan survey findings identified the issues that are important to the local 

community. Some of the issues identified were non-planning issues and so cannot be included in the 
main body of the Neighbourhood Plan. However, these issues are important to local people. To show 

the community that their comments have been taken into account and will be addressed by the 

Parish Council, all non-planning issues are included in this section.  
 

 

Non planning objectives 
1. To use developer contributions for community infrastructure within the local community to 

address impacts arising from growth. 

 

2. To consider actions to address transport-related issues such as traffic flows (both car and non 
car), parking and safety within the parish. 

 

3. To encourage retailing of locally produced farm produce. 

 

4. To encourage the development of existing sites with already approved planning permissions 
(Houghton Grange & Beers Garage site) to best meet the needs of the local community. 

101



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

xxix 
 

Community infrastructure 

13.5 Huntingdonshire District Council has a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) in place. New 

development within the district will pay the relevant CIL charge and the funding pot will be used 

to address infrastructure needs. Of these proceeds raised within the parish, 25% will be given 

directly to Houghton and Wyton Parish to spend on addressing the impacts of growth. Whilst 

growth is not expected to be significant and therefore proceeds from CIL relatively low, it is 

important to prioritise this spending on particular issues. 

13.6 The Parish Council will use CIL receipts to address the infrastructure impacts arising from 

growth. Priorities for infrastructure expenditure will be reviewed regularly and will be subject to 

change. These include: 

 A traffic survey to address traffic issues in the parish and the village. 

 Creation of a plan to improve the traffic flows, parking and appearance of the village centre. 

 Provision of a site for a new non-vehicular river crossing. 

 Replacement of existing unsuitable infrastructure items with items suitable for a rura 

environment including bus shelters, street lights, rubbish bins, public signs (including 

information signs) and public seating. 

 Pedestrian/bridleway route between Houghton Hill to Meadow Lane giving access to Home 

Farm Road – across the Back Brook.   

       

13.7 The Parish Council will work closely with all infrastructure providers to develop and deliver the 

relevant infrastructure 

13.8 Priorities for infrastructure spending will be reviewed regularly by the Parish Council 

13.9 Some of the infrastructure projects require cooperation with the neighbouring parishes and 

partners It is the Parish Council’s intention that through the Neighbourhood Plan it will continue 

to work with its neighbours and partners on the infrastructure projects. 

 

 

102



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

xxx 
 

14 Traffic and transport 

14.1 The Neighbourhood Plan process identified a number of transport-related issues. In 

 particular,  there are issues of traffic flow through the village and parking at the village 

 green which it is considered would benefit from a comprehensive transport study. The 

 funding of this has been identified detail to be found in Part B , Community Aspirations.) 

14.2 However, there are other matters which relate to highway safety (pertaining to access from 

new development), parking at new developments and access by non-car modes. When there is 

any development of the connecting infrastructure within the parish, including roads, footpaths, 

cycle-ways, bridleways and towpaths, then all aspects relating to safety of the user(s) will be a 

prime consideration. In particular the dimensions, type of construction and surfacing, and 

nature of its intended use, will be assessed to ensure the safety of any user. 

Highway safety – access from new development 

14.3 The nature of the rural roads, even very close to the village, is such that they can be quite 

dangerous by nature of their size and the number of blind bends. This is exacerbated by the 

significant levels of traffic that use the main routes surrounding the village, specifically the 

A1123, A141 and B1090.  

14.4 It is therefore particularly important that new development which will access these busy 

routes is appropriate in terms of ensuring the safety of traffic. The creation of new additional 

access points is generally considered to increase risks to traffic safety. If new development has 

the opportunity to replace an existing informal access point with a new formal access point, 

then this is to be encouraged. A ‘formal’ access point is one that provides an officially adopted 

method of access onto a public highway as opposed to informal access provided by, for 

example, a farm track. 

14.5 Furthermore, given the additional traffic using these roads, accidents and casualties are often 

observed to increase when buildings are located adjacent to the roads as opposed to being set 

back. In some cases, accidents have resulted in significant damage to buildings (and therefore 

also to the vehicles involved) because of their proximity to the highway. We will work with 

developers and the local authorities to ensure proposals for any new development site new 

buildings away from the highway. This will allow natural screening to address visual, noise and 

air pollution. 

14.6 The existing trees, hedges and ditches act as a safety and – in the case of the trees and 

hedges – sound barrier between the road traffic and buildings. We will encourage these to be 

preserved rather than being removed and replaced with, for example, brick walls or wooden 

fences.  

14.7 The A1123, A141 and B1090 are all through routes whose capacity and safety will be affected 

adversely by additional access points.  Appropriate developments are encouraged by this 

Neighbourhood plan but the Parish Council will work to encourage any new developments 

requiring a new access point onto these roads and that go through and past the Parish to 

demonstrate the positive need for it in traffic terms, through modelling and analytical work, if 

they are to be taken forward.  Furthermore we will seek evidence to demonstrate why the 

usage of an existing access point, even with improvement works, would not be more 

appropriate.  

103



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

xxxi 
 

14.8 For developments fronting on to the A1123, A141 and B1090 roads, we will encourage new 

buildings to be positioned to maximise the potential of natural screening to minimise visual, 

noise and air pollution.  This is also to protect the safety of road users along these routes. 

14.9 The Parish Council will request that any trees, hedges or ditches along the edge of the 

roadsides to be preserved, except where provision for a new access point has to be made. 

104



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

xxxii 
 

15 Retailing in the countryside 

15.1 The creation and expansion of rural businesses can contribute towards a prosperous rural 

economy. However, whilst promoting a strong rural economy, the NPPF also recognises the 

intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside, which is a valuable asset. Retail development 

in the countryside, if not strictly controlled, can also run counter to the objectives of sustainable 

development, by creating additional journeys to rural locations. It is therefore desirable to 

restrict development to that which primarily supports the active maintenance of land in 

agricultural and other appropriate land based uses, such as farm shops primarily retailing 

produce at, and produced upon, their own holding.  

15.2 In considering such development, the Parish Council will support proposals where a 

significant proportion of produce, in terms of turnover, would originate upon the farm holding 

where it would be sold and providing it does not have a detrimental impact on the viability of 

the existing shops in the village. It would wish to restrict produce, which does not originate 

upon the holding, for sustainability reasons. The Parish Council will seek to resist retail proposals 

in rural locations where the business case is not considered to justify such a location.  

 

105



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

xxxiii 
 

16 Existing development sites - parish needs & intentions 

Houghton Grange and Beers Garage Site 

16.1 Houghton Grange is a significant asset within the parish. Located on the eastern edge of 

Houghton and Wyton village, the community wishes for it to be better incorporated into the 

village. This will enable it to serve the housing needs arising in the community. 

  

 

16.2 The emerging Huntingdonshire Local Plan proposes land at St Ives West for a mixed use 

allocation (Proposed Allocation SI1), including the land at Houghton Grange which is within the 

parish and closest to the village. However, the plans for Houghton Grange itself should respect 

its location within the parish.  

16.3 Houghton Grange is a brownfield site incorporating an important listed building. Outline 

planning permission has been granted for up to 90 dwellings and it is considered that this 

provides the appropriate scale of growth to satisfy the housing needs of the parish and wider 

area over the plan period. 

16.4 However, it is vital that this addresses the needs of the local community. The chapter on 

housing has identified that the predominant need is for smaller properties to address the needs 

of first time buyers and older people, as well as to provide for declining household sizes. 

16.5 Therefore it is important that development at Houghton Grange provides a substantial 

proportion of smaller units. This would principally one and two bed properties, with two bed 

properties preferred as these provide more flexibility for occupiers as their needs change. 

16.6 In particular, it is important that the needs of older people and those with disabilities are 

properly met 73% of respondents to the survey supported part of Houghton Grange to be a 

retirement community. The requirement to develop properties to Lifetime Homes standards will 

help to achieve this. 

16.7 Development should also seek to provide an element of live/work units. They would provide 

potential for small businesses to continue to thrive in the parish.  

16.8 In order to ensure that any proposals address the requirements of the local community, it is 

vital that they are properly planned. A step-by-step approach to the production of a coherent 

plan will help to achieve this. In the early stages, it is important that the community is involved 

106



  
Houghton and Wyton Neighbourhood Plan 

 March 2018 
 

 

xxxiv 
 

in shaping this plan and the principles that underpin it. This can only be achieved if there are 

events scheduled into its production which involve the community. 

16.9 The intention of this section is to ensure that where live/work units are permitted, they do 

not give rise to unacceptable impacts on nearby residents.  

16.10 Beers Garage Site is a brownfield development site in the heart of the village and 

conservation area.  Whatever is constructed here will help define the character of the village for 

generations to come.  It currently has outline planning permission for 4 terraced cottages with 

parking and gardens at the rear reflecting the adjacent Victorian terraced houses. 

Houghton Grange 

16.11 In order to provide for the needs of the local community, proposals for residential 

development at Houghton Grange ideally shall provide the following: 

i. A balanced mix of high quality accommodation, with at least 40% of the properties being 

two- and one-bed properties (with two-bed properties preferred).  

ii. A number of self-build plots.  

iii. Live/work units, with the opportunity to provide for an incidental amount of financial and 

professional service (Class A2) or office/research/light industrial (Class B1) use. Such uses 

must not give rise to unacceptable impacts on the amenity of neighbouring residences. 

iv. Development to Lifetime Homes standards. 

16.12 In order to ensure that any proposals meet the needs of the community, it is vital that the 

community is involved in establishing the principles of any plan. Community events and activities 

to inform this should be undertaken in conjunction with Huntingdonshire District Council and 

Houghton and Wyton Parish Council and should ensure extensive engagement with the local 

community in shaping the outputs.  

Beers Garage Site  

16.13 To ensure the development of the Beers Site sits well in the character area this development 

needs to be one cohesive development of architectural merit and identity. 

16.14 The community identified the need for a mixed development comprising: 

 One- or two-bedroom properties to meet the need for the over 60s as 28% of village 

properties have single occupancy.  Only 14 dwellings in the Parish have been built 

specifically for this age group and these were built in the 1970s. 

 Community amenity to serve the parish and the 150,000+ visitors. This site provides 

an ideal location to base a ‘resource centre’ which could comprise information about 

the village, village history and the Parish Office. 

 Further small and independent retail outlets sought by the residents.   

 

 

 

107



This page is intentionally left blank



Public 
Key Decision - No 

 

 
 

HUNTINGDONSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
 
Title/Subject Matter: HDC Ventures – Shareholder Board 
 
Meeting/Date: Council – 26th March 2018 
  
  
Executive Portfolio: Executive Member for Commercial and Shared Services 
  
Report by: Managing Director 
  
Ward(s) affected: All 
 

  
Executive Summary:  

 
 
The Council has established a Local Authority Trading Company, HDC Ventures. Its 
purpose is to enable the Council to participate in commercial trading activities. This is 
increasingly common amongst local authorities. 
 
The day-to-day operation of the company is the responsibility of the Directors. The 
Council is the sole Shareholder and it is necessary to establish a mechanism for 
decisions to be taken on behalf of the Council as the Shareholder. It is, therefore, 
proposed to create a Shareholder Board comprising: 
 

 Executive Leader and Chairman of the Cabinet 

 Deputy Executive Leader and Executive Member for Housing and Planning 

 Responsible Executive Member 

 Executive Member for Resources 
 
The Shareholder Board will be advised by the Managing Director, Section 151 
Officer, Monitoring Officer, Corporate Director – Services and any other advisers as 
required. 
 
The Shareholder Board will take decisions on behalf of the Council that are of a 
routine nature and such matters as changes to the Articles of Association and 
borrowing. Strategic issues relating to the overall company director will still be a 
matter for full Council. Details of the Board’s role appear in the Terms of Reference 
attached in an Appendix. 
 
Any changes required to the Constitution will be submitted to the next meeting of the 
Council following consideration of this matter by the Corporate Governance 
Committee. 
 
 
Recommendations: 
 
The Council is  
 
RECOMMENDED 

109

Agenda Item 4



 
1. To appoint the Executive Leader and Chairman of the Cabinet, the 

Deputy Executive Leader and Executive Member for Housing and 
Planning, the Responsible Executive Member and the Executive 
Member for Resources to the Shareholder Board to act on behalf of the 
Council as Shareholder of the Council’s Local Authority Trading 
Companies; and 
 

2. To approve the Shareholder Board Terms of Reference appended to the 
report now submitted. 

 
 

 

110



 

1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to establish a mechanism for tactical decisions to 

be taken as Shareholder of its Local Authority Trading Company, HDC 
Ventures. 

 
2. WHY IS THIS REPORT NECESSARY/BACKGROUND 

 
2.1 The Council needs to be able to exercise its role as Shareholder of any 

company it owns in a timely and expedient manner.  
 
3. OPTIONS CONSIDERED/ANALYSIS 
 
3.1 The Council has received legal advice from its advisers, Trowers and Hamlins 

LLP, that this is a recommended way of fulfilling the shareholder role. In 
addition, it is regarded as national best practice. 

 
4. LINK TO THE CORPORATE PLAN, STRATEGIC PRIORITIES AND / OR 

CORPORATE OBJECTIVES 

 
Implementing our Transformation Programme.  

 Commercialisation will be an important part of the way HDC functions in the 
future. The creation of de facto trading entities is one of the key elements of the 
transformation plan. 

 
 Identifying new opportunities for income generation, where appropriate.  

This will be achieved via the development of a ‘commercial culture’ across the 
Council, alongside a systematic approach to evaluating and developing 
commercial projects.  
 
Having a more engaged and motivated workforce.  
Commercial activities will introduce new ways of thinking and working into the 
Council, which will provide opportunities for professional and personal 
development across the organisation.  

 
5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  
 
5.1 The proposed action is in response to a recommendation by the Council’s legal 

advisers, Trowers and Hamlins LLP. 
 
6. WHAT ACTIONS WILL BE TAKEN/TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION 
 
6.1 If changes are required to the Constitution following a decision on this matter, 

these will be submitted to the next meeting of the Council following a 
recommendation by the Corporate Governance Committee. 

 
7. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDED DECISIONS  
 
7.1 A mechanism is required for decisions to be taken on behalf of the Council as 

the Shareholder of its Local Authority Trading Company. Legal advice and 
nationally recognised best practice indicate that a Shareholder Board will 
achieve what is required. 

 
 
LIST OF APPENDICES INCLUDED 
 
Appendix 1 – Shareholder Board – Terms of Reference 

111



 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
None 
 
 
CONTACT OFFICER 
 
Tony Roberts, Democratic Services 
Tel No: 01480 388015 
Email: anthony.roberts@huntingdonshire.gov.uk. 
  

112

mailto:anthony.roberts@huntingdonshire.gov.uk


Appendix 1. 
 
SHAREHOLDER BOARD ‐ TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 
Overview 
 
The Shareholder Board will exercise the Council’s role as shareholder in any company, 
limited by shares wholly or partly owned by the Council for the purposes of service 
provision and/or trading activities. The Board acts with delegated authority ensure the 
performance of any such company is satisfactory. 
 
Any reference in these terms of reference to “Company" is defined as a company in 
which the Council holds shares. 
 
Membership 
 

 Executive Leader of the Council 

 Deputy Executive Leader of the Council 

 Responsible Executive Councillor 

 Executive Councillor with responsibility for resources. 
 
The Managing Director, Section 151 Officer, Monitoring Officer and Corporate Director 
‐ Services will be advisors to the Board to provide open and strong technical advice. 
Additional advisors may be invited to attend the Board as required. 
 
Purpose 
 
The Shareholder Board will have the power to approve: 
 
1. Any minor change in the nature of the Business or the jurisdiction in which it is 

managed and controlled. 
2. The issue or allotment of any shares in the capital of the Company or any 

Subsidiary Undertaking of the Company or the creation of any security or the 
grant of any option or rights to subscribe in respect thereof or to convert any 
instrument into such shares. 

3. The reduction of the share capital or variation of the rights attaching to any 
class of shares in the capital of the Company or any Subsidiary Undertaking of 
the Company or any redemption, purchase or other acquisition by the Company 
of any shares or other securities of the Company or any Subsidiary Undertaking 
of the Company; the sale, transfer or disposal of the whole or a substantial part 
of the Business, or any dilution of the Company’s interest in any Subsidiary 
Undertaking. 

4. The formation of any Subsidiary Undertaking or the acquisition of or investment 
in any other company or business. 

5. The approval and/or adoption of any Business Plan or annual budget or any 
variation of the Business Plan; or annual budget from time to time. 

6. The entering into any purchase, sale, lease or licence of any freehold or 
leasehold property (other than in accordance with the Business Plan). 

7. The disposal of any assets of the Company or any Subsidiary Undertaking. 
8. Any changes to the Articles of the Company or any Subsidiary Undertaking of 

the Company. 
9. Entering into any arrangement, contract or transaction between the Company or 

any Subsidiary Undertaking of the Company and any third party which has an 
annual contract value in excess of £150,000 (or the equivalent amount in any 
other currency). 

10. Any change of the Company’s name, auditors, bankers, accounting reference 
date; entering into an agreement to do any of the foregoing. 

113



 
The Shareholder Board will not have operational control over Companies All decisions 
regarding the day to day operation of each Company , its business developments and 
commercial opportunities, staff terms and conditions and the development and 
implementation of its internal procedures, rest with the Directors of each Company. 
 
Relationship to overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
The Council’s relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee will retain its scrutiny function 
in relation to the Shareholder Board. Overview and Scrutiny will be able to call the 
Board to account for progress in relation to any Company for which the Council is a 
shareholder and any returns it is making. 
 
Scope 
 

In respect of Teckal‐compliant companies The Shareholder Board will: 
 
1. Monitor Teckal compliance at least annually. 
2. Ensure the Business Plan of a Teckal compliant Company is aligned to the 

corporate objectives of the Council. 
 
In respect of non Teckal‐compliant wholly Council‐owned companies The Shareholder 
Board will also: 
 
1. Seek to optimise returns on investment from trading activities. 
2. Ensure trading activities are conducted in accordance with the values of the 

Council. 
 
In respect of any shareholding and/or joint ventures The Shareholder Board will: 
 
1. Evaluate the return and benefits of the shareholding against the values of the 

Council. 
2. Where appropriate, exercise influence over the company and /or joint ventures 

in accordance with the values of the Council. 
 
Operation of the Shareholder Board 
 
1. The Cabinet has delegated to the Shareholder Board the authority to take 

decisions in respect of the Council’s shareholding in any Company. 
2. The Shareholder Board will meet quarterly, or as required. 
3. The quorum for a meeting of the Shareholder Board is a minimum of 2 

members, one of whom must be the Leader or Deputy Leader, who will chair 
the meeting. 

4. The Shareholder Board may take decisions outside of a Company’s general 
meeting as follows: 

 
a. At meetings of its members by consensus of those present, unless any 

member of the Board requires a vote, in which event a majority decision will 

be taken with each member of the Shareholder Board present having a 

single vote. The Chairman of the meeting has a casting vote in the event 

that there is no clear majority; or 

b. In cases of urgency, by a decision made by the Leader or Deputy Leader in 

consultation with the Chief Executive. 

114



5. Any decisions made by the Shareholder Board in accordance with 4a or b 
above, must be notified to the Company’s directors as soon as reasonably 
practicable following such decision being taken. 

6. The Shareholder Board may take decisions at a Company’s general meeting in 
accordance with the principles set out in 4a above. 

7. The Chairman approves the agenda for each meeting. The agenda and papers 
for consideration are circulated at least two working days before the meeting. 
After each meeting, the Chairman approves the meeting notes and actions and 
signs any resolutions agreed by the Board. TBC will act as secretary to the 
Board. 

8. The Shareholder Board will review the Terms of Reference annually. 

115



This page is intentionally left blank



MEETINGS OF THE COUNCIL’S COMMITTEES AND PANELS SINCE 

THE LAST ORDINARY MEETING 

MARCH 2018 

DATE MEETING AND BUSINESS CONSIDERED 

 

1 CABINET –SPECIAL MEETING 
 

  Proposal to provide consent for the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough 
Combined Authority to borrow for its new functions. 

 

6 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PANEL (COMMUNITIES AND ENVIRONMENT) 
 

  Luminus Group / Places for People Presentation 

 

7 LICENSING AND PROTECTION COMMITTEE 
 

  Draft Service Plan for Food Law Enforcement 2018-19 
 Provisional Service Plan for Health and Safety Regulations 
 Update on Consultation of the Draft Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 

Licensing Policy 
 Licensing and Protection Sub Committee 
 Quarterly Report on the Suspension / Revocation of Vehicle Licences for 

Safety Purposes 

 

8 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PANEL (ECONOMY AND GROWTH) 
 

  Growth and Infrastructure Update 

 

19 DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 
 

  1 Deferred Item 
  1 Section 106 Agreement 
  6 Applications requiring Reference to Development Management 
  2 Other Applications 
  Appeal Decisions 

 

22 CABINET 
 

  Lettings Policy Review 
  Growth and Infrastructure Update 
  Amendments to the HDC Ventures Articles of Association 
  Variations to the Membership of Advisory Groups –  

 HDC Growth and Infrastructure 
 Development Plan Policy Advisory Group 

 

 

117

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Combined Authority 

Reports from Constituent Council Representatives 
on the Combined Authority 

 
Member representatives 

Meeting Dates of Meeting Representative 

Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 

12 February 2018 Constituent council to insert 
their members’ name 

Combined Authority 
Board 

14 February 2018 
28 February 2018 

Constituent council to insert 
their members’ name 

 

The above meetings have taken place in February. 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee –Monday 12 February 2018 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee met on Monday 12 February 2018.  A 

summary of the committee’s minutes is attached at Appendix 1. 

Board meeting 

The Board met on Wednesday 14 February 2018 and the decision summary is 

attached at Appendix 2. 

The Board met on Wednesday 28 February 2018 and the decision summary is 

attached at Appendix 3. 

 

 

119

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

Appendix 1 

 

 

 

 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee- Decision Summary  

Meeting: 12th February 2018 

http://cambridgeshirepeterborough-ca.gov.uk/meetings/overview-and-scrutiny-committee/?date=2018-02-12  

 
Chair: Cllr John Batchelor 
 
Summary of decisions taken at this meeting 
 

Item Topic Decision [None of the decisions below are key decisions] 

   

1. Apologies Apologies received from Cllr Yeulett, Cllr Murphy and Cllr Mason.  

2. Declaration of Interests There were no declarations of interest. 

3. Budget Consultation The Committee considered the budget report that would be discussed at the Combined 
Authority Board meeting on Wednesday 14th February.  
  
The Chair invited the Interim Chief Finance Officer and the Financial Project Officer to 
answer the committees questions; the following point were made during the discussion:-  
 

 The members noted that the responses that had been received from some 
constituent councils were more of a plea for funding rather than an actual comment 
on the budget and that there were no responses from the business sector, despite 

121

http://cambridgeshirepeterborough-ca.gov.uk/meetings/overview-and-scrutiny-committee/?date=2018-02-12


 2 

Item Topic Decision [None of the decisions below are key decisions] 

request being sent to the Chamber of Commerce and others through other routes. 
 

 Members felt that this budget was a historical budget rather than a forward-looking 
budget as it outlined figures that had already been approved by the Board.  

 

 Members felt it would be useful to see the budget for future years to be able to get 
a good understanding of the costs around individual projects.  

 

 Members were advised that the Combined Authority were working on and would be 
providing a Medium Term Financial Strategy in due course, which would provide 
the information for the budgets for future years. 

 

 The LEP budget was still to be brought to the Board for approval, it was envisioned 
that this would be brought back in March. There was a legal requirement for the 
Combined Authority to approve a balanced budget before the beginning of March 
which was why the two budgets had to be considered separately. 

 

 Members felt that some information regarding the LEP budget should have been 
included with the budget.  

 

 Members raised concern around the documentation and presentation of the budget 
report and felt the budget should have a more granular process to enable members 
to have a better understanding. The Chief Finance Officer advised that she would 
be happy to work with the scrutiny committee to provide more detailed information, 
and that the Medium Term Financial Strategy would provide further detail. 

 

 The committee raised concern around the visibility of the income streams and 
where money was currently being held by the Combined Authority. The officers 
advised that there is a current Treasury Management Strategy which was 
considered by the Audit and Governance Committee at their December meeting, 
and plans to develop this further as the current strategy is based on the 
Peterborough City Council model.  Audit and Governance Committee had asked for 
this to be reconsidered and a paper would be brought back to the next Audit and 
Governance Committee meeting in March. 

122



 3 

Item Topic Decision [None of the decisions below are key decisions] 

 Members queried the £175m reserves figure for 2018/19 financial year, as it was 
felt that this did not reflect the available funding by identifying any ringfenced 
projects, and therefore that money was not freely available to spend on other 
projects. It was agreed that the report could be clearer and the MTFP would 
address this. 

 

 Cllr Nethsingha raised a concern about the mayors increasing expenses and asked 
for more detail to be provided around this.  Officers advised this was only a notional 
figure. 
 

Cllr Nethsingha proposed, seconded by Cllr Baigent that the committee recommend the 
following to the Board meeting on Wednesday 14th February 2018. 
 
‘The O&S Committee express their concern at the lack of detail made available in the 
budget papers as they are presented. The Committee expresses particular concern that 
the budget papers do not reflect the money committed to projects in future years, for 
example commitments made to Peterborough University. We welcome the commitment to 
produce a medium term financial plan and ask that this be produced as a matter of 
serious urgency.’ 
 
The Committee unanimously agreed.  
 
Full detail of the discussion can be found in the minutes 
http://cambridgeshirepeterborough-ca.gov.uk/assets/Overview-and-Scrutiny-
Committee/Overview-and-Scrutiny-Draft-Minutes-12th-February-2018.pdf  
 

4. Mass Rapid Transport Review – Terms 
of Reference 

 

The Committee received the report which outlined the points needed to consider the terms 

of reference for the Mass Rapid Transport review group.  

The Committee resolved to appoint the following membership for the task and finish 

group: 

Cllr Cantrill, Cllr French, Cllr Carter, Cllr Baigent, Cllr Riley (until May 2018).  

123

http://cambridgeshirepeterborough-ca.gov.uk/assets/Overview-and-Scrutiny-Committee/Overview-and-Scrutiny-Draft-Minutes-12th-February-2018.pdf
http://cambridgeshirepeterborough-ca.gov.uk/assets/Overview-and-Scrutiny-Committee/Overview-and-Scrutiny-Draft-Minutes-12th-February-2018.pdf


 4 

Item Topic Decision [None of the decisions below are key decisions] 

The Committee agreed to appoint Cllr Cantrill as Chairman for the Task and Finish Group.  

It was agreed that the Task and Finish Group should meet following the conclusion of the 

O&S Committee on the 26th February at Huntingdonshire District Council.  

5.  Date & Location of Next Meeting 

 

The next meeting would be held at Huntingdonshire District Council on the 26th February 

2018.  

 

 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee- Decision Summary  

Meeting: 26th February 2018  

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting scheduled for the 26th February was cancelled as there was no business for the committee 
to discuss.  

 

The Task and Finish Group set up to consider the Mass Rapid Transport met on the 26th February 2018 and agreed the following terms of 
reference, which will be brought back to the O&S Committee for approval on the 26th March 2018.  

 

1) To review existing processes and the development of the MRT project to date  

2) To ensure that the CAM fits within an integrated transport network: if the busway and park and ride are not to be promoted,  

(a) would the passenger transport network function effectively and  

(b) would it align with schemes being delivered by GCP?  

3) To consider the decision making and consultation processes to arrive at a transport solution based upon the CAM  

4) To examine this project within the Local Transport plan development and the development of the Bus Strategy. 

 

124



 

Appendix 2 

 

 

 

CAMBRIDGESHIRE & PETERBOROUGH COMBINED AUTHORITY  

Decision Statement 

Meeting: 14th February 2018 

http://cambridgeshirepeterborough-ca.gov.uk/meetings/cambridgeshire-and-peterborough-combined-authority-board/ 

 

 

Item Topic Decision  

 Part 1 – Governance Items  

1.1 Apologies and Declarations of 
Interest 

Apologies received from Councillor K Reynolds (Chairman, Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough Fire Authority) (Councillor J Peach substituting). 
 

 

125

http://cambridgeshirepeterborough-ca.gov.uk/meetings/cambridgeshire-and-peterborough-combined-authority-board/


 

Item Topic Decision  

1.2 Minutes – 31 January 2018 It was resolved to approve the minutes of the meeting of 31st January 2018 as a correct 
record. 

 

1.3 Petitions  None received. 
 

1.4 Public Questions 
 

None received. 
 

 Part 2 – Key Decisions 
 

 

2.1 Budget 2018/19 The Local Government Finance Act 1992 (LGFA 1992) places a duty on Councils to set a 
balanced budget with regard to the advice of its Chief Finance Officer (section 151).  

This paper report provided the results of the consultation of the draft 2018/19 Combined 
Authority budget and asked the Board to approve the draft budget in light of the responses 
to the consultation. 

It was resolved to approve the 2018/19 Combined Authority budget as set out in Appendix 
2. 
 

 Part 3 – Non Key  Decisions 
 

 

3.1 Budget 2018/19 (Mayor’s Budget) The report requested the Board to approve the Mayor’s draft budget for 2018/19 

It was resolved to note the Mayor’s budget for 2018/19. 
 

 Part 4 – Date of Next Meeting  

4.1 Date of Next Meeting Wednesday, 28 February 2018 at 10.30 am in the Civic Suite, Huntingdonshire District 
Council, Pathfinder House, St Mary's Street, Huntingdon, PE29 3TN 
 

 

126



 
 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 3 

 

CAMBRIDGESHIRE & PETERBOROUGH COMBINED AUTHORITY  

Decision Summary  

Meeting: 28th February 2018 

http://cambridgeshirepeterborough-ca.gov.uk/meetings/show/2018-02-28 

 
 
 

Item Topic Decision  

 Part 1 – Governance Items  

1.1 Apologies and Declarations of 
Interest 

Apologies received from Councillor S Count (Councillor R Hickford substituting), 
Councillor J Holdich, Jason Ablewhite (Councillor R Bisby substituting), and  
J Bawden (Dr Gary Howsam substituting) 
 

 

127

http://cambridgeshirepeterborough-ca.gov.uk/meetings/show/2018-02-28


 
 

 

Item Topic Decision  

1.2 Minutes – 14 February 2018 It was resolved to approve the minutes of the meeting of 14th February 2018 as a correct 
record subject to the deletion of “Huntingdonshire” on the first page, third sentence, of the 
Mayor’s announcement. 

 

1.3 Petitions  None received. 
 

1.4 Public Questions 
 

Two questions were received, the questions and the response to the second question are 
published at the following link: 
 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Combined Authority meeting 28/02/2018 

 

1.5 Forward Plan It was resolved to approve the Forward Plan of Executive Decisions dated to be published 
on 26 February 2018. 
 

1.6 Membership of the Combined 
Authority and Committees - 
Amendments 

The report advised the Board of amendments to membership of the Board and its 
committees to be notified by Fenland District Council. The Combined Authority was 
advised that Fenland District Council’s full Council meeting on 22 February reviewed its 
membership of the Board and committees.  

It was resolved to: 

(a) note the appointment of Councillor Chris Seaton made by Fenland District Council to 
replace Councillor John Clark as its Member to the Combined Authority for the 
remainder of the municipal year 2017/2018 and Councillor Mike Cornwell as substitute. 
 

(b) note the changes in membership of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the 
Audit and Governance Committee made by Fenland District Council – Councillor Chris 
Boden appointed to the former and Councillor Anne Hay to the latter. 
 

 Part 2 – Key Decisions 
 

 

2.1 Cambridgeshire & Peterborough 2030 
Prospectus 

It was resolved to agree to withdraw this report and bring it back to a future meeting. 
 

128

https://cmis.cambridgeshire.gov.uk/ccc_live/Meetings/tabid/70/ctl/ViewMeetingPublic/mid/397/Meeting/707/Committee/42/Default.aspx


 
 

 Part 3 – Non Key Decisions 
 

 

3.1 A10 Corridor – Key Findings and Next 

Steps 

The Mayor, Combined Authority and partner organisations have long recognised the 
strategic importance of the A10 to the local economy and the challenges faced by 
worsening congestion and delays. During his election, the Mayor committed to a number 
of ambitious transport improvements including a dual carriageway for the A10. The 
commissioning of study work was also a key commitment as part of the 100 day 
programme which led to £500,000 of Combined Authority funding being agreed in June 
2017 for a feasibility study.  

This scheme remains one of the Combined Authority’s top transport and infrastructure 
priorities along with other strategic projects including the implementation of a mass transit 
system in Cambridgeshire; dualling of the A47; extending the M11 to the A47; and the 
development of a new Garden Town at Wisbech.  

Following the conclusion of the feasibility study for the A10 corridor, this report set out the 
key findings and make recommendations to progress to the next phase of the project as 
quickly as possible.  

It was resolved to: 
 
(a) Note the findings of the Cambridge to Ely Transport Feasibility Study and the strong 

case for dualling the A10. 
 

(b) Agree to delegate authority to the Chief Executive to approve this spend and update 
the Board at the March meeting. 
 

(c) Delegate authority to the Director of Transport to award the contract for the 
development of the Strategic Outline Business Case. 
 

(d) Authorise the Director of Transport to commence procurement for the Options 
Appraisal Report subject to approval of the contract being made at a future meeting 
of the Board before an appointment was made.  

 

3.2 Senior Staffing Structure – Combined The Board agreed at its meeting on 31st January 2018, to a shared Chief Executive, 

129



 
 

Authority and Local Enterprise 
Partnership 

responsible for both the Combined Authority and a new Local Enterprise Partnership. It 
was also agreed that the Combined Authority should become the employer of a single 
staffing team, and that a new staffing structure would be designed and proposed to the 
Board.  

This report provided details of a senior staffing structure that would be able to effectively 
support both the Combined Authority Board and its work programme, and the new 
Business Board and the activities required of the Local Enterprise Partnership. These 
arrangements provided a new operational model to support public and private sector 
partnerships and was a demonstration of public sector reform delivery.  

It was resolved to: 
 

(a) approve the proposals in respect of the senior officer structure as set out in the 
report; 

 
(b) approve the following posts creating the Chief Officer structure of the Combined 

Authority: 
1) Legal Counsel  
2) Director of Infrastructure 
3) Director of Business and Skills 
4) Director of Strategy and Planning 
5) Director of Finance 

 
(c) Note the intention to agree the job descriptions, salary grades for the posts and to 

proceed to recruit to the posts through the Employment Committee. 
 

3.3 Highways and Transport Capital 
Grants – Supplementary Allocations 
2017/18 
 

This report consulted the Combined Authority Board regarding the Mayor’s intention to 
allocate Pothole Action Fund grants totalling £974,047 to Cambridgeshire County Council 
and Peterborough City Council in line with the Department for Transport formula as set 
out in the table below. 
 

Constituent Council Allocation £’s 

Peterborough City Council £167,536 

Cambridgeshire County £806,511 

130



 
 

Council 

Total £974,047 
 

 Part 4 – Financial Management and 
Audit 
 

 

4.1 Statutory Instrument for Borrowing This report provided the Board with an update on the development of the Statutory 
Instrument that will enable the Combined Authority to borrow as specified in regulations 
under section 23(5) of the Local Government Act 2003.  

It was resolved to: 
 
(1) note the agreement of the Interim Chief Finance Officer (s.151 officer) to the 

Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Combined Authority Agreement and Debt Cap 
to 2019-20 
 

(2) agree to a Statutory Instrument permitting the Combined Authority to extend its 
borrowing powers on condition that the Statutory Instrument did not require 
constituent councils to underwrite any borrowing of the Combined Authority 
 

(3) note that the Combined Authority would be requesting consent from its constituent 
councils to the making of the Statutory Instrument  

 

 Part 5 – Local Enterprise 
Partnership Item (Key Decision) 

 

5.1 Greater South East Local Energy Hub 
(the ‘hub’) 

The Combined Authority had the opportunity to establish and pioneer one of only five 
Local Energy Hubs in England. Chosen by the Greater South East LEPs (11) which 
include a 16-county area, including Greater London, and endorsed by the Department for 
Energy, Business and Industrial Strategy (BEIS) the Combined Authority would be the 
vanguard local energy organisation in the area. 

It was resolved to: 
 
(a) Agree that with immediate effect the Combined Authority becomes the Accountable 

Body for the Greater South East Local Energy Hub. 
 

131



 
 

(b) Authorise the Chief Executive to employ staff as required to meet the administrative 
and technical requirements of administering the Greater South East Local Energy 
Hub. 
 

(c) Note the consent of the LEPs and their local authorities within the Greater South 
East Local Energy Hub area to the Combined Authority acting as the Accountable 
Body on its behalf. 

 

 Part 6 – Date of Next Meeting 
 

 

6.1 Date of Next Meeting It was resolved to note the date of the next meeting – Wednesday, 28 March 2018  
Peterborough City Council, Town Hall, Bridge Street, Peterborough, PE1 1HF 

 

132


	Agenda
	1 MINUTES
	3 HOUGHTON AND WYTON NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 2018 TO 2036
	HWNP final version prepared by HDC 30-01-2018

	4 HDC VENTURES - SHAREHOLDER BOARD
	5 OUTCOMES FROM COMMITTEES AND PANELS
	6 CAMBRIDGESHIRE AND PETERBOROUGH COMBINED AUTHORITY - UPDATE
	CA Appendix 1 Overview and Scrutiny
	CA Appendix 2 Board
	CA Appendix 3 Board


